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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

IN RESYNCHRONY FINANCIAL
SECURITIESLITIGATION No. 3:18<v-1818(VAB)

RULING AND ORDER ON MOTION TO DISMISS

On April 5, 2019, Stichting Depositary APG Developed Markets Equity Pool (“APG” or
“Lead Plaintiff”) and Stichting Depositary APG Fixed Income Credits P@dG Fixed”)
(collectively “LeadPlaintiffs”) filed an Amended Complaint on behalftbémselvesall
similarly situated purchasers of Synchrony Financial common stock (“Synchrony stock”)
between October 21, 2016 and November 1, 2018 (the “Class Peand'3Jl similarly situated
purchasers of Synchrony Financial 3.95% bonds due 2027 (the “Synchoteg/)éither in or
traceable to Synchrony Financial’'s December 1, 2017 note offering (the “Offeringiy dioe
Class Period. Am. Compl. at 5, ECF No. 78 (Apr. 5, 2019).

Lead Plaintiffssued Synchrony Financial (“Synchrony®Jargaret M Keane, Brian D.
Doubles, Thomas M. Quindldoollectively with Synchrony, Exchange Act Defendants”)
David Melito, Paget Alves, Arthur Coviello, Jr., William Graylin, Roy Guthrie, Ridhar
Hartnack, Jeffrey Naylor, Laurel Richie, Olympia Snowe, Bard@ggital Inc., Mizuho
Securities USA LLC, Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, TD Securities (USA) LLC, RleklvVan,
LLC, Castleoak Securities, L.P., Mischler Financial Group, Inc., R. Seelaus &€o¢amnd The

Williams Capital Group, L.Rcollectively “Defendants”)
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LeadPlaintiffs allege numerousiolations of Sections 10(b), 20A, and 20(a) of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. 88 78j(b), 78t-1, and 78t(a), against Synchrony, Ms. Keane, Mr.
Doubles, and Mr. Quindlen; insider trading in violation of SEC Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-
5 promulgated thereundeagainst Ms. Kean®/r. Doubles, and Mr. Quindlen; and violations of
Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. 8§88 77k amgadinst Defendants

Defendantsnoveto dismiss the Securitig€gslassAction in its entiretyand with prejudice.

For the reasons elgined below, the CouERANTS the motion to dismiswith
prejudice.

l. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
A. Factual Allegations
Accordingto LeadPlaintiffs:

This caseis about a companyhat loosenedits underwriting
standardgo boost growth, handing outedit cardsto consumers
who nevershould havenad them. Whenit saw that this scheme
generateda pool of bad loans, the company pulledack on
underwritingsohardthatit stalledits own growthandkilled its most
lucrative retail partnershipwith Walmart Each step of the way,
ratherthandiscloseto investorsthatits lax underwriting standards
had generatedsignificantloan lossesand historic chargeoffs, and
howits pull-backon underwritingvascausingpushbacKrom retail
partnersandjeopardizingthe Walmartcontract,Synchrony hid the
truth and issued a series of materially false and misleading
statementsto investors that artificially inflated Synchrony’s
securities prices. When the truth was revealed, Synchrony’s
securitiegricesfell sharplyin responsezausingsignificantharmto
theclassof Synchrony investorthatLeadPlaintiff APG represents
in this action.

Am. Compl.  1Therelevanteventsn thislawsuitculminatein Walmart’'sterminationof its

twenty-yearpartnershipvith SynchronyandWalmart'sbreachof contractactionfiled against

! For the purposes of these motions at this time, all nonconclusory factual atisgatthe Amended Complaint are
aaepted as true. All reasonable inferences are drawn in favor of the nonm@aahPlaintiffsU.S. v. City of N.Y.
359 F.3d 83, 91 (2d Cir. 2004)



Synchrony shortlyhereafterandalsofocus on Synchrony’statementsandundewriting efforts
leadingup to Walmart’sannouncement afs nontenewal.SeeAm. Compl.f11-37;Defs.’
Mem. of Law in Supp. of Their Mot. to Dismissthe Am. Compl.at 1-2,ECFNo. 99 (June 26,
2019)(“Sec.Defs.” Mem”).

Synchronya Delawarecorporation and consumer financial services company based in
Connecticut, sells stock on theW Y ork Stock Exchange. Am. Com].45 As of October 26,
2017, Synchrony allegedly had over 780 million shares of stock outstaidliSgnchrony
allegedlyisthe largest provider of privatabel credit cards in the United Statkek.J 51. Rivate
label credit cardsllegedly bear the name of a specific retailer and are intended primarily for use
on purchases with that retailéd. Synchrony also offers general purpose co-brand credit cards
(“Dual Cards”), which are “branded by one of Synchrony’s retail partners,” and “funtiteres
[privatelabel credit carpwhen a consumer uses it to purchase goods or services from that retail
partner, but . . . likeraordinary credit card when the consumer uses it elsewher§.’52.
Synchrony allegedly “has a practice of converting [privabel credit carficustomers into Dual
Card customersId. § 53.Synchrony’s credit cards are generally backed, however, by banks and
credit card issuers, and not tiedail partnershemselveg Id. 9 3, 52.

Within each of Synchrony’s three sales platforms—Retail Card, Payment Solutidns, a
CareCredi—Synchrony akgedly has partner relationships with retailers and consumer brands.

Id. 191 55-56. The retail partnerships allegedhgthe “cornerstone of Synchrony’s business,”

2 See, e.gTatusko v. GE Capital CorpNo. 3:04cv-1828 (CFD), 2007 WL 2524940, at *1 n.5 (D. Conn. Aug. 31,
2007) (‘Privatelabelcreditcardsare store credit cards. GE Capital issued private label cards for stores Qagh as
Home Depot, and Lowe3; Bryan v. Credit Control, LLCNo. 18cv-0865 (SJF)(SIL), 2018 WL 6520730, at *1
(E.D.N.Y. Dec.11, 2018) (“Although the Debt stems from a credit card that could only be used to pugobds
from Kohl's, the store’s credit accounts are issued and owned byptiitgl banksKohl's credit cards were issued
by Chase Bank until 2011, and since thgrClapital One Bank.”) (citations omitted).



and include “retail giantsike Sam’s Cluk® Amazon, BP, Lowe’s, The#&p,J.C. Penney,

Ashley Furniture Homestore, and until recently, Walmitt{ 56. Retailers allegedly “enter into
Retail Card arrangements with Synchrony to increase sales and marketing, and t@encoura
customer loglty,” while customers get “instant access to credit, discounts, attractaléyloy
programs, and promotional offerdd. { 57.

Synchrony allegedly cortls the credit criteria, issues the credit cards,amas the
underlying accounts and loan receivables generated under the prddrddased on retailer
share arrangements that are allegedly typically included in Synchrony’s Rethpatarership
agreementsSynchrony and the retail partner allegedly “share in the gains from their partnership
that flow from customers’ fees, interest payments and other charges on their creditstc
provided thatthe economic performance of the program exceedsaactuallydefined
threshold.”ld. § 58.Synchrony allegedly claims that its retailer share arraegésfalign its
interests with its partndt$ ” Id.

Walmart, allegedly the nation’s largest retailer, was also Synchrony’d fmpertant
retail partne.” 1d. § 59. Synchrony allegedly maintained an office in Bentonville, Arkansas,
where Walmart also hats headquarters$d. { 60. At the end of 2017, “the Walmart partnership
accounted for more than 10% of the total interest and fees on Synchrony Idafi€3. In early
2019, “Synchrony estimated the size of its Walmart portfolio to be approximately $9 bildon.”
Walmart allegdly focuses a “significant portion of [its] store credit card business . . . on
subprime borrowersjd. 1 69, and “historically [has] drawn a significant amount of its business
from low-income consumers with subprime credid,”J 67. Consequently, “Walant was

incentivized to encourage Synchrony to grant subprime customers access to crectt,” whi

3Sam’s Club is a “Walmart subsidiary and retail wholesale club.” Am. Comgl. { 6



“increase[d] Walmart's sales as well as Walmart’s fees on the credit card fifamodey its
retailer share agreement with Syranty.” 1d. { 69. Because Synchrony allegedly leveraged its
balance sheets, “a modest increase in losses [due to subprime apdmeadiorrower§ can
have a meaningful impact” on Synchrony’s capital position and securities puicg$6.
Synchrony akgedly “generated a lot ofwenue from [subprime borrowers] through interest
payments and late fees,” and “Walmart wanted approval for almost everiarig71.

Briefly, Defendants are alleged to have committed numerous misrepreseniltites r
to Synchrony’s credit underwritingractices “the resulting decrease in near-prime and subprime
customers and “pushback” fronretail partnes, namely Walmarid. § 98.These
misrepresentatioralegedly began on October 21, 20a6¢d continued as late e 2018 See
id. 11 106—when Ms. Keane assured investors that Synchrony’s relationship with Walmart, its
largest retail partner, was strorgge idf1100-~ 1.

The falsity of the statements detailed in A&raendedComplaint allegedly came to light
when: (1) on April 28, 201{the start of the Class Perio@ynchrony announced “disappointing
results for the first quarter of fiscal year 2017, including that net income had dropped 14% from
a year earlier,” and attributed these losses to the “poor creéllebits loan paotfolio” and a

spike in chargeffs, id. 1232 (2) on July 26, 2018, Synchrony confirmeddfter media sources

4 According to Securities Plaiiiffs:

Credit scores “rank order” consumers by their predicted credit risk, and a credit
score ndicates how likely a consumer is to repay a debt relative to other
consumers. Belowrime borrowers are typically defined as individuals with a
FICO score blow 660.1 In 2016, 2017, and 2018, over 25% of Synchrony’s credit
card loans were issued to borrowers with FICO scores of 660 or less. . .inf&ubpr
and neaprime borrowers typically have lower incomes, worse credit histories,
and represent a higherkisf loss than prime borrowers. This risk is compounded
by the fact that consumer credit loans karequire any collateral to protect the
company from losses.

Am. Compl. 11 6566 (footnotes omitted).



first reported—thatWalmart endedts twentyyear partnership with Synchrony in favor of
Capital One Bankd. 11 174-75; and (3) on November 1, 2018 (the end of the Class Period),
Walmart sued Synchrony in federal coatgiming “thatSynchrony intentionally underwrote the
Walmart/Synchrony credit card program in a way that exposed the progsignifaant credit
risk and harred Walmarf’ id. 1177.

Lead Plaintiffstherefore generally allege that Exchange Act Defentants
misrepresentations were materially false and misleading, artificially inflayingh®ony’s stock
price and ultimately, when the truth was revealed, leading to significant lossesman ha
shareholdersAccording tothe Lead Plaintiffs Ms. Keane and Mr. Doubles “held themselves out
as knowledgeable” about Synchrony’s underwriting practices, its partnership relatipasdips
retail partners’ pushback on Synchrony’s changes to its credit underwiaki§§.262-63.

1. Partiesto the SecuritiesClassAction
i.  ExchangeAct Parties

APG “is one of the largest institutional investors in the wowith allegedly“over $500
billion under management.” Am. Compl. 1 4G allegedly purchasezhares of Synchrony
stock during the Class Peridd. APG Fixed is an investment pool ttediegedlypurchased
Synchrony Notes during the Class Period{ 44.Lead Plaintiffsallegedly “suffered damages
as a result of the federal securities laws alleged heidir[Y 43-44.

Lead Plaintiffsallege violations of Sections 10(b), 20A, and 20(a) of the Exchange Act
and SEC Rule 10b-5 against Synchrony and the following corporate officers:

e Margaret M. Keanewhoallegedlyis and wador all relevant timethe Chief
Executive Officer (“CEQO”) and President of Synchrony, as well as a member of

its Board of Directorsid. § 46

e Brian D. Doubleswho allegedly is and was for all relevant tingygichrony’s
Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) and Executive Vice Presidéant] 47



e Thomas M. Quindlen, who allegedlyand wador all relevant times
Synchrony’sExecutive VicePresidentand CEO of Retail Cardlj.  48.

During the Class Periodijs. Keane and ¥ Doubles allegedly “regularly spoke in public
... about [Synchrony’s] underwriting standards and practices, the quality of its loan @aitgoli
relationships with its retail partners, the Offering . . . [they] possessed the qavauthority to
control the contents of Synchrony’sports to the SEC, press releasesl [more.]”ld. T 50. In
addition,Lead Plaintiffsallege that Ms. Keane and Mr. Doubles “were each provided with
copies of the Company’s reports and press releases alleged herein to be misleadiogopri
shortly after, their issuance and had the ability and opportunity to prevent their issuaause
them to be correctedId.

“Because of their positions and access to materialpodotic information available to
them,Defendand Keane and Doubles each knew thatadverse facts specified herein had not
been disclosed to, and were being concealed from, the public, and that the positive
representations which were being made were then materially false andéadimgl!”Id.

ii.  Securities Act Parties

Lead Plaintiffsallege violations of Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act adamst
Keane and Mr. Doubles, who were allegedly each Synchrony officers at the time of the
Registraton Statement’s filing with th&EC on September 16, 2016, 11 39, 329, and the
following individual Defendants

e David Melito, who allegedly served as Synchrony’s Senior Vice President, Chief
Accounting Officer, and Controllédrom at all relevant timesd. T 330;

e Paget Alves, who alleged served as a member of Synchrony’s Board of Birecto
(“BOD”) at all relevant timesd. § 331;

e Arthur Coviello, Jr. who allegety served as a member of Synchrony’s BOD at
all relevant timesid. § 332;



William Graylin, who allegedly served as a member of Synchrony’s BOD at all
relevant timesid. 1 333;

Roy Guthrie, who allegedly served as a member of Synchrony’s BOD at all
relevant timesid. 1 334;

Richard Hartnack, who allegedly served as a member of Synchrony’s BOD at all
relevant timesid. § 335;

Jeffrey Naylor, who allegedly served as a mendéeSynchrony’s BOD at all
relevant timesid. 1 336;

Laurel Richie, who allegedly served as a member of Synchrony’s BOD at all
relevant timesid. § 337;and

Olympia Snowe, who allegedly served as a member of Synchrony’s BOD at alll
relevant timesid. § 338.

Defendants Keane, Doubles, Melito, Alves, Coviello, Graylin, Guthrie, Hartnackoay!

Richie,and Snowe are collectively ssfedto as the SecuritiesdA Individual Defendants.

The following Underwriter Defendants also allegedly violated Sections 11 and 15 of the

Securities Act:

Barclays Capital Inc. (“Barclays”), allegedly a Connecticut corporation with
headquarters in New York, New York, operatingadsokerage fm and
investment advisor; Barclays allegedly paid an underwriting discount of
$1,613,150 for its services as a joint book-running manager for the Offiekifig,
343,;

Mizuho Securities USA LLC (“Mizuho”), allegedly a Delaware limited liability
company with headquarters in New York, New York, operating as an investment
bank; Mizuho was allegedly paid an underwriting discount of $1,613,150 for its
services as a joint book-running manager for the Offerihd, 344;

Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC (“Morgan Stanley'allegedly a Delaware limited
liability company with headquarters in New York, New York, operating as an
investment bank; Morgan Stanley was allegedly paid an underwriting discount of
$1,613,700 for its services as a joint book-running manager for the Offiekifig,

345,

TD Securities (USA) LLC (“TD Securities”), allegedly alBeare limited
liability company with headquarters in New York, New York, operating as an
investment bank and brokerage firiD Securities was allegedly pban



underwriting discount of $385,00or its services asseniorco-manager for the
Offering,id. 1 346

Blaylock Van, LLC (“Blaylock Van”), allegedly a California corporation with
headquarters in New York, New York, operating as an investment advisor and
brokerage firm; Blaylock Van was allegedly paid an underwriting discount of
$55,000 for its swices as a conanager for the Offeringgl. § 347;

CastleOak Securities, L.P. (“CastleOak”), allegedly a Delaware limited liability
company with headquarters in New York, New York, operating as a brokerage
firm; Blaylock Van was allegedly paid an underwriting discount of $55,000 for its
services as a emanager for the Offeringg. § 348

Mischler Financial Group, Inc. (“Mischler”), allegedly a Califoro@poration

with headquarters in Corona Del Mar, California, operating as a brokerage firm;
Mischler was allegedly paid an underwriting discount of $55,000 for its services
as a cemanager for the Offeringgl. 1 349;

R. Seelaus & Co., Inc. (“R. Seelausd)legedly a Delaware limited liability
company with headquarters in Summit, New Jersey, opeiadiagorokerage

firm; R. Seelaus was allegedly paid an underwriting discount of $55,000 for its
services as a emanager for the Offeringgl.  350; and

The Williams Capital Grop, L.P. (“Williams”), allegedly a Delaware partnership
with headquarters in New York, New York, operating as a brokerage firm;
Williams was allegedly paid an underwriting discount of $55,000 for its services
as a cemanager for the Offeringg. 1 351.

2. Relevant Alleged Misrepresentationsand NondisclosuresBefore April
28, 2017

LeadPlaintiffs allegethatin mid-2016, “Synchronyecognizeca markeddeteriorationn

thecreditquality of its 2015and2016 vintage loanandanticipatedchargeoffs acrosghe whole

portfolio.” Id. § 72.This deterioratiorallegedlywascausedoy Synchrony’s conversion of a

number ofWalmartprivatelabelcreditcardsto Dual Cardsbetween2011and2016.1d. | 74.

Althoughthis conversiorwasallegedlydoneto boost usagandrevenue;the outcomewasthat

lossedncreased-becauseiskier borrowershad morefreedomto usetheir cards—andWalmart

sawlessrevenuehanit expectedo receiveunderits partnershipvith Synchrony.”ld. § 75.

Following theseincreasedosses Synchronyallegedlyundertook avidespreadgnalysisof these



lossesld. 1 76.At theendof 2016, Synchrongllegedlyrealizedthat“Walmart’s loanlosses
weredramaticallyhigher”thanit hadoriginally anticipatedwhich pulled down Synchrony’s
entireloanlossmetric.Id.

In thesecondhalf of 2016andthroughearly 2017 ,allegedlyunknownto investors,
Synchrony‘drastically tightenedts underwriting standardsih responseo its “risky and
deterioratingportfolio.” Id. § 78.LeadPlaintiffs allegethatat the sametime, Synchrony
“misrepresentetb investorghatits underwriting remainedconsistent’and‘disciplined,” and
thatany underwritingchangesvere‘surgical’ in nature.”ld. § 23. During‘the first third of the
ClassPeriod, Synchrony hiffom investorsts needto tightenunderwriting—andthefact thatit
hadalreadytightenedunderwriting—becausét would havesentanegativemessagéo the
marketthat Synchrony’s underwritingvaspreviously too lax.’ld. I 99.

LeadPlaintiffs presennumerousgexamplesof Synchrony’sallegedmisrepresentationas
well asMs. KeaneandMr. Doubles’sallegedpersonabenefittherefrom

OnOctober21, 2016 Mr. Doublesallegedlyemphasizedo investors Synchrony’s
“strong growth’in loanreceivablesandthe‘favorable’ ‘credit environment.”ld. § 100.0n
October27, 2016, Synchrongllegedlyfiled aForm 10-Qandreportedts loan portfolio’s
“stableassetjuality.” Id. On November 3, 2016n apresentatiorto investors, Synchrony
allegedlyemphasizeds focus ornf[d]isciplined [u]nderwriting.” Id.

Theseallegedmisrepresentatiorfartificially inflated theprice of Synchrony common
stock” sothatfrom October20to November 9, 2016, thetockpriceincreasedmorethan11%.”
Id. T 102(emphasi®omitted) On November9, 2016 Mr. DoublesandMs. Keaneeachallegedly
sold 2,000sharesat $30.00/sharéd. 1 103.0n November 22, 2016, botfls. KeaneandMr.
Doublesallegedlyenterednto Rule 10b5-1 planfor stocksalesto occurin February2017.1d.

104.Thatsameday,theyalsoallegedlyeachsold 6,000Gharesat $34.00/shardd.

10



OnDecembei7, 2016 atthe GoldmarSachdJ.S. FinancialServicesCorference Mr.
Doublesallegedlyclaimedthat Synchronywas“not seeinganything right now’thatrequiredit
to “changelits] underwriting.”ld. § 105.0n January20, 2017, oran earningsadl, Mr. Doubles
allegedlystatedSynchronyhadmaintained'very consistentreditguidelines.”ld. Mr. Doubles
madesimilar statementg Synchrony presentations danuary30, 2017 February23, 2017;
andFebruary27, 2017whenMr. Doublesallegedlyclaimedthat“[w]e haven'treally changed
our underwritingsignificantly over thepast9 to 12 months.”Id.

Thesestatementsllegedlyartificially inflated Synchrony’sstockprice andcausedt to
increag morethan8% from November 22, 201 February27, 20171d.  107.Furthermore,
industryanalystdike JefferiesandDeutscheBankalsoallegedlyacceptedheserepresentations,
andpraisedSynchrony’s “higheguality portfolio . . . [andreditstrategies.’ld. § 108.0n
February28, 2017Mr. Doubles #egedlysold 8,10%haresf SynchronystockandMs. Keane
allegedlysold 11,50Ghareseachfor $36.13/shardd. { 109.

OnApril 4, 2017, Synchrongllegedlyfiled its 2017 ProxyStatemenbnFormDEF
14A, andstatedthatit “maintainedstablecreditmetricsandremainedisciplinedon
underwriting.”ld. {1 110(emphasi®omitted).

Formeremployeesllegeally corroborate Synchrony’s underwritiegange$eginningin
2016.1d. 1 83.FormerEmployeg“FE”) 5, aformerVice Presidenbf Operationsat Synchrony
who dealtwith theLowe’s accountstatedthatLowe’s andits customersverecomplaining about
not obtainingasmuchcredt asthecustomersradwanted.ld.  84.Accordingto FE5,who
learnedaboutthis from quarterlyupdatesrom Ms. Keane thesecompaints“stemmedrom
concernsat Synchronythatcollectiblelossesvere higherthanwhatthe Compangxpected.’ld.

FEG6,a formerRegionalCredit SalesManagerat Synchrony statedthat“employees’

bonuseslecreaseth parallelto thedecreasén the number of consumetkat Synchrony

11



approved beauseSynchronybaseda portion ofsalesemployeesbonuse®nthe number of
applicationssubmittedanda portion on the number of applicaticactuallyapproved.1d.  85.
FE6alsoallegedly“witnesseda ‘significantdrop’ in approvals goingnto the spring of 2017, . . .
with ayearoveryeardecline of approximately 15-20%d. 1 89.At thesametime, in early
2017,FE8,aformer CreditCollectionsSpecialisiat Synchronyallegedlywitnessed'an increase
in cusomerswith bettercreditscoresobtaining Synchrony carddd. q 88.

OnApril 28, 2017, oran earningsall, Synchronyallegedlymadeits “first partial
correctivedisclosure,’id. § 100,andannounced “sharply disappointingsultsfor thefirst
guarterof fiscal year2017, including a 14%eclinein annualnetincome,andattributedits poor
pefformane to its souringloan portfolio,” id.  111.Mr. Doublesallegedlystatedwith respect
to underwriting: Thechangeshatwe’ve beenmaking,we’ll continueto make,arepretty
surgicalin nature.”ld. § 90.0n thesamecall, Ms. Keaneallegedlystated:“Our resultswere

impactedby the 45%ncreasean the provisiorfor loanlossesve experiencedhis quarter,” and
that“net chargeoffs camein at5.33%comparedo 4.74%in thefirst quarterof lastyear.™ 1d.
113.Mr. Doublesallegedlyaddedhatthe “provisionfor loanlossedncreased5% ovedast

year,” that“‘the increasevasdriven by highereservebuild andreceivablegrowth,” andthat
the “back half of [2016]is betterthanfirst half,” but thatthe “‘underwriting boxfor ushas
beenlargely consistent.”ld. 111113-14 Whenaskedby aCreditSuisseanalysto “talk about
whatthings [Synchronys] doing differently”in responseandwheher Synchronys “doing
thingseitherto tightenfrom acredit perspectiver from aprofitability perspective,Ms. Keane
allegedlyreiteratedhat Synchrony’s‘'overall underwriting standardsndcutoffs havebeen
largely consistent.’ld.  115(emphasi®mitted).Ms. Keaneallegedlyfurtheranswered:

[W]e haven’tmadewhat | would call significant changeso our

underwriting modelto tighten up.The changesthat we've been
making, we’ll continueto make, are pretty surgical in nature.

12



Theyre specific to certain portfolios or certain credit strategies.
We're always adjusting thingslike line assignmentsfefining
upgradestrategiesandthingslike that. Soyes,we tightened a biin
the secondhalf. We'll continueto refine our strategieshereaswe
move throughout 2017 . . . | wouldrsayit's anythingdramatic
that’'sgoingto slow down the growthateof thebusiness.
Id. (emphasi®omitted).Mr. Doubledaterallegedlyrepeatedhatthe“modifications” were
“pretty surgical.”ld. § 116.
Synchrony’s ®ck allegedlydroppedhearly16% dueo thestatementsnade on thépril
28, 2017call. Id. 111 118, 236. Following Synchrony’s announcement on chdagfss
underwritingpractices,;marketresearcherandthemediaconnectedsynchrony’s pooloan
portfolio performanceo its lax underwritingpractices.”ld. § 238(citing andquotingfrom
numeroussources).
LeadPlaintiffs allegethatthesestatementScontinuedto downplay thevidespreadhature
of Synchrony’s tightening ats underwritingandthatthe urerwritingchangesvereso
significantthatthey would materiallyreduce approvakndthreatenedsynchrony’s long-

standing relationshipsith its retail partnersjncludingWalmart.”Id. § 119.

3. Impact on Synchrony’s Partnership with Walmart and Relevant
EventsAfter April 28, 2017

Accordingto theLeadPlaintiffs, the Exchangéct DefendantsSpublicly misstatedand
failed to discloseXhatthe modificationsto Synchrony’s underwritinggndtheresultingdecrease
in nearprime andsubprimecustomersfrustratedretail partners’(includingWalmart’s) ongoing
demandor more approvalfrom Synchronyfor nearprimeandsubprimecustomersandcaused
Synchrony’setail partnerdo pushbackonthesecreditdecisions by Synchronyld. 1 98.

Accordingto the LeadPlaintiffs, “Walmart historicallyhadone ofthe lowest
requirementgor creditapprowalsacrossll of Synchrony’s portfolios,id. § 123,andtension

with Walmartensueddueto Synchrony’sallegedtightening ofits underwritingpracticesjd. 1

13



121-27. Numerourmeremployeesecount howheyheardthrough supervisors dirst-hand
thatWalmartwasdispleased, “beginninig thefall of 2017 ,whenit sawapprovalratesfor
[privatelabelcreditcardsor Dual Cards]beginningto drop.”Id.  134;seealso id.{122, 125
133, 135-39, 144-47, 149-FrmeremployeeslsodescribeSynchrony’sallegedly
“struggling” relationshipwith Sam’sClub, aWalmartsubsidiaryld. § 140-41.

Ms. Keane’sallegedlyincreasedontactswith Walmartin themiddle of 2017wasfurther
“evidencethattherelationshipbetweenSynchronyandWalmartwassuffering.”Id. § 142.
Accordingto FE6,Ms. KeaneandMr. Quindlenflew frequentlyto Walmart'sArkansas
headquarterbetweerApril andJune 2017ld. Accordingto FE9, aformer AcquisitionsStrategy
Managerat SynchronyMs. Keanevisited Walmart'sheadquarterabout once aotwice a month
duringthistime, beforeshevisited once ortwice ayear.ld. § 143.

The“pushback’that Synchronyallegedlyreceivedirom retail partnergegardingts “new
underwriting standards amdcreaseapprovals’extendedeyondWalmart,andincludedSam’s
ClubandLowe’s, which wasconcernednainly aboutits commercialcustoners.ld. 11155-56.
LeadPlaintiffs allegethe followinginstancesvhereExchangeAct DefendantSrepeatedly
overstatedhehealthof its partnershipsindaffirmatively, falselyrepresentethat Synchrony
wasreceivingno ‘pushbackfrom its partnerson its creditdecisions.ld. { 157.

OnJune 2, 2017n responséo a question oan earningsall about“2 big partnerships
upin 2019,” Ms. Keaneallegedlyrespondedhat shewas“pretty confident”that Synchrony
would keepthe partnershipdd. LeadPlaintiffs alsoallegethatMr. Doubles‘admitted” onthis
call that“Synchronysawmid-2016"as theinflection point’ at which Synchronystarted'making

changesalmostimmediately,” allegedlyto its underwritingpracticesld.  79.
OnJuly 21, 2017, oanearningsall, Mr. Doublessimilarly allegedlyclaimedfeeling

“pretty positive about the relationshighatarecomingup, the relationshipse’ve hadfor a

14



very,very longtime,” andreiteratedaterthathe was“confident” of renewalsld. § 157.
Accordingto Securities Synchrony’sstockpriceincreasedt.54%thatday*“[ijn response to”
thesemisrepresentationgd. 1211-12.

On October20, 2017, oranearningall, in responséo ananalyst’squestion about the
“large renewalsoutin 2019,”Ms. Keaneallegedlyrespondedhat Synchronywas“very
confident” about renewing those relationshipsy 157. Shalsoallegedlystated:| feellike we
havevery good relationships right nowldl. Accordingto LeadPlaintiffs, Synchrony’sstock
priceincreasedt.19%thatday“[ijn response tothesemisrepresentationsd. {213-14.

On November 14, 201'Mr. Doublesallegedly“dismissedanalystconcernsabout how
Synchronywasmanaginghe‘naturaltension’betweeriretailersthatwantto drive sales’and
Synchrony’s goalfrom ‘the standpoint of botbreditextensiorandgrowth.” Id.  157.Mr.
Doublesalsoallegedlyclaimedto investorghat Synchrony’sretailershareagreements
“completelyaligned” Synchrony’snterestswith those ofits retail partnerssotheretailers‘have
arealincentive noto underwritedeeperaswell.” 1d. Finally, Mr. Doublesallegedlly elaborated
on Synchrony’s “tighten[ing] up . . . of the approeateriain someprogramsnotacrossthe-
board buin certaintargetareas.”ld. I 82.

Theseallegedmisrepresentatiorfartificially inflated Synchrony’s sock price” suchthat
from June 2o November 14, 2017, Synchrong®ckpriceincreasedlmost19%.1d. § 159.0n
November 17, 201Mr. DoublesandMs. Keaneallegedlyenterednto Rule 10b5-1 planor
stocksalesin early 2018,“while they knew [aboutWalmart'spushback] . . and. . .that
Walmarthadbalkedat renewingits partnershigvith Synchrony.”ld. § 160.

OnJanuaryl9, 2018, oranearning<all, Ms. Keaneallegedlyagain“rejectedanalyst
concernghatthe Company’s ‘underwritingefinemensg andtightening’ haded to adeclinein

consumer purchase voluraaed‘pushback’from retail partners.1d. { 16L. Ms. Keaneallegedly
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statedthat Synchronywas*“not gettingany pushback owrredit,” andthat“thesearemodest
refinements.’ld. Mr. Doublesallegedlydescribedhe*“refinements”’ashavinghada “positive
impact”: “As yourememberye startedmakingrefinementgo our underwritingn thesecond
half of 2016,andwe continueto seethe positivampactof thosechanges.’ld. {1 162.

LeadPlaintiffs allegethesestatementsvere“materially falseandmisleading,”because
Synchronyhadreceived‘pushback orcredit” from WalmartandLowe’s, so Synchronywasnot
seeinga “positiveimpact” of its underwritingchangesld. § 163.Thesealleged
misrepresetations‘artificially inflated” Synchrony’sstockpricesandallegedlycaused
Synchrony’sstockpriceto increag 3.14%with Ms. KeaneandMr. Doublesallegedly
personally benefiing. Id. 1 165, 218-210n Februaryl5, 2018 Mr. Doublesallegedlysold
12,374shareandMs. Keanesold 24,74&haresat $36.70/sharefor combinedotal proceeds
of $1.362million.” Id. § 165.Five daysandsix dayslater,Mr. Quindlenallegedlysold atotal of
27,932shars at pricesrangingfrom $36.72/sharéo $37.00/shee, “for total proceedof $1.027
million.” Id. This allegedlywasthefirst time Mr. Quindlen sold personallgeld shareof
Synchrony stockd.

OnApril 20, 2018, Mr. Doubleallegedlyreportecthatin thefirst quarter of 2018,
“consumenending underwtten for customersvith FICO scoredowerthan600declined15%,”
which alsoreflectedSynchrony’secentactions.Id. T 96.

LeadPlaintiffs describeseveralotherinstancesvherethe ExchangeAct Defendants
allegedlymademisrepresentatiorendfailed to discloseetailerpushbackSeeid. 1166—71.
Forinstancepn April 20, 2018, oranearningscall, while allegedlydiscussinghangego
Synchrony’s underwritingracticesMr. Doublesstated:'We startedo makerefinementgo our

underwritingin thesecondhalf of 2016,andwe continueto seethe positivampactof those
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changes Id. 1 167.In responséo ananalyst’squestion aboutbig renewals”upin 2019,Ms.
Keanestatedthat Synchronywas“well entrenchedWith its partnerslid.

OnMay 1, 2018 Mr. Doubles Ms. Keane,andMr. Quindlenallegedlypersonally
benefitedfrom the artificial inflation of Synchrony’s stockd.  168.Mr. Doublesallegedlysold
4,994sharesat $32.87/shardyls. Keaneallegedlysold 20,496&haresat the sameprice,andMr.
Quindlenallegedlysold 17,77Zharesat $32.89/shardd. On May 22, 2018, M. Quindlenalso
allegedlysold 3,08%haresat $36.00/shardd. Thetotal proceed$rom thesesalesallegedly
were$1.533million. Id.

OnJune 13, 201&t aconferencein respons&o ananalyst'squestion regarding
Synchrony’s partner relationshipgds. Keaneallegedlystated:

We havea goodpartnership . . | thinkwe havegood—Walmartis
a goodpartner. . .I'm notafraidby ourcompetition.l think we feel
pretty positive about howve built outwhatwe build out . . With
the renewalsthat we're working on,we havegreat partnerships,
greatdialogue going on.
Id.  170(emphasi®mitted).
4. The End of Synchrony’s Partnership with Walmart

ExchangéAct Defendantsveredlegedly awarethatWalmartwasunsatisfiedwith
Synchrony’sightenedunderwriting standardendwasconsideringeplacingSynchrony—with
Ms. Keane Mr. DoublesandMr. Quindlen“intimately involvedin servicing”and“salvag[ing]”
theWalmartrelationship—yet they continuedo makemateriallyfalseandmisleading
statementdd. 1274-80.

OnJuly 12, 2018;multiple mediasourceseportedthatWalmartwasconsidering
movingits brandedcreditcardbusinesgrom Synchronyto CapitalOneandhad,in fact, pushed

backon Synchrony’seductionin creditapprovalsafterit tightenedts underwriting.”ld.  172.

Citing confidentialsourcestheWall StreetJournalstatecthatWalmartwasallegedly
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dissatisfiedvith Synchronybecausdt “want[ed Synchronyto approve a highgrercentagef
applicants,thatWalmartexecutivesallegedlybelievedSynchronywas“keeping toomuchof
thecards’revenue,’andthatthey“aired thoseconcernsn ameetingwith Synchrony’s boarthst
year.”ld. 1 239.Accordingto theWall StreetJournal in late 2017, unknowrno investors,
Walmartallegedlylaunchedfor the*first time,” aformal requesfor bidsfrom othercreditcard
issuers,’includingmeetingsn early 2018with SynchronycompetitorCapitalOneand
GoldmanSachsGroup.Id. T 148.

Upon this news,Synchrony’sstockallegedlyfell 5%. Id. 11 173, 239—41.eadPlaintiffs
allegethat“[n]o otheradverseCompanyspecificnewsenteredhemarket”thatday,sothe
declinein Synchrony’sstockpricewasentirely attributableto “the undisclosednaterialfacts
concerning th&almartrelationshipthat Synchronyhadkeptfrom investors”andwhich the
Wall StreetJournalreportedlid. 1 240.

OnJuly 26, 2018severaimediasourcesconfirmedthat“Walmart hadselectedCapital
Onefor its storebrandcards,endingits closeto 20+yearrelationshipwith Synchrony.”ld. § 242.
Upon this news,Synchrony’sstockallegedlyfell 10.3%andandysts“worried aboutwhatthe
newsportendedor Synchrony movindgorward” Id. 11242—-43 LeadPlaintiffs allegethat“[n]o
otheradverseCompanyspecificnewsenteredhe market”thatday,sothedeclinein
Synchrony’sstockpricewasentirely attribu@bleto “the undisclosednaterialfactsconcerning
theWalmartrelationshipthat Synchronyhadkeptfrom investors.”ld. § 243.

OnJuly 27, 2018, oanearningall, in responséo ananalyst’squestion about thetate
of the Synchrony/almartpartnershipMr. Doublesallegedlystatedthatthe old agreemenivith
Walmart“was somewhatniquein termsof the profile.”Id. § 176.Mr. Doublesallegedly

continued:
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Thatbecamea challengefor usfrom an economic standpoin&nd

in this case,we just weren'tableto earna returnthatwasin line

with the creditrisk of the portfolio. Under the oldgreemen we

were earningan acceptablereturn for that risk. In the renewal

discussionsit becameclearthatwe weren'’t. . . goingto beableto

maintain that acceptabldevel of return for the risk that we are

taking.
Id. In responséo ananalyst’squestion aboutvhethenWalmat's decisionnotto renewwasdue
to Synchrony’s tightening underwriting aroutiee WalmartprogramMr. Doublesallegedly
responded;'No. | would notassumehat,’ becausehe‘credit actions’that Synchronyhadtaken
to tightenunderwriting were‘appliedacrosgretty much([the] entirebusiness.”1d. 1 246
(emphasigmitted).

OnJuly 30, 2018, 8arclaysanalystallegedlydowngraded Synchrorfyom a“Top
Pick,” statingthatafterthe July 27, 2018arningscall, hewasnot “particularly comfortedby
[Synchrony’s] explanations, nor djBarclays]feel [that Synchronyjadequateladdressed
concernsaroundfuturerenewaluncertainties.’ld. I 247.

OnOctober24, 2018the Wall StreetJournalallegedlyreportedthatin 2017, after
Walmarttold Synchronyit should approvenoreapplicants,’'Walmart“beganoffering loans
from financialtechnologyfirm Affirm Inc. asanalternativeto Synchronycards.”ld. { 132.

On November 1, 2018)Valmartfiled alawsuitagainst Synchrony Arkansasalleging
breachof contractandtheimplied covenant of gooéhith andfair dealing.ld. 177 Walmart
sought $800nillion in damagesndclaimed:

Synchrony said it took on a ‘unique’ level of ‘credit riskithvthe
Walmart/Synchrony credit card program (that is, Synchrony
extended credit to riskier customers in the Walmart/Synchrony
credit card program as compared to other programs) because the

contract between Synchrony and Walmart gave Synchrony what it
viewed as an ‘acceptable return’ for that risk.
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Id. 191177-78 (quotingValmartv. SynchronyCompl.{ 24,No. 5:18¢v-05216TLP (W.D. Ark.
Nov. 1, 2018)“Walmart Compl.”)).

FromNovemberl to November2, 2018, Synchrony’sharesllegedlydeclinedby 10%.
Id. 1191 179, 249LeadPlaintiffs allegethat“[n]o otheradverseCompanyspecificnewsentered
themarket’thatday,sothedeclinein Synchrony’sstockpricewasentirely attributableto “the
undisclosednaterialfactsconcerning th&almartrelationshipthat Synchronyhadkeptfrom
investors.”ld. {1 250.Marketcommentatorandanalystsallegedly“explicitly linked the
allegationan Walmart'scomplaintto Synchrony’s changings underwriting standardsnd
Walmart’'scomplaintsabout those changesd. § 251(citing excerptdrom theWall Street
Journal); id. § 252(citing excerptdrom the ArkansasDemocratGazetteand theMotley Fool);
id. 1191253-54(citing variousanalystnotesandreports).

LeadPlaintiffs allegethat SynchronyMs. Keane,andMr. Doubles
eachmademateriallyfalseandmisleading statementandomissions
concerning, among other thingg:thequality of Synchrony’sredit
portfolio; (i) Synchrony’s purported “consisterghd“disciplined”
approachto underwriting; and (iii) the strength of Synchrony’s
relationshipswith its key retail partnersand purportedlack of any
pushbackrom themon Synchrony’€hangeso its creditapprovals.

Id. 9 181.

FurthermoreleadPlaintiffs allegethatthe statementslescribecabove
were also materially misleading for their failure to diselahe
following material adverse facts: (i) in mRD16, after years of
approving risky subprime borrowers, Synchrony significantly
tightened its underiting standards; (ii) the tightened underwriting
standards and resulting decline in subprime approvaated a
conflict between Synchrony and its partners, including Walmart
(then Synchrony’s largest partner, with a customer base that
included signifiant amounts of subprime customers); (iii) Walmart
told Synchrony in 2017 to approve more borrowers;tfie)conflict
between Synchrony and Walmart jeopardized Walmart's renewal of

its contract with Synchrony; (v) in the Fall of 2017, when Synchrony
approghed Walmart about renewing the Synchrd¥glimart
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contract, Walmart “balked” at the renewal; (vi) Waliiaformed
the Synchrony Board in 2017 of Walmart’'s concerns that Synchrony
needed to approve more customers and was keeping too much of the
cards’ revaue; and (vii) in 2017, Walmart issued a formal request
for contract bids from other credit card comgamni

Id. 9 208.

As aresultof their purchase®f Synchronysecuritiesduring theClassPeriodandthe
ExchangéAct Defendantsallegedmisrepresentatnsdetailedabove LeadPlaintiffs first allege
theysufferedharmunderSection10(b) of the Exchangact andSECRule 10b-51d. {1 231,
298-307seealso id.f1255-57(regardingthe presumption aklianceandwhy it shouldalso
apply Classwide). Furthermorethey allegethat the statutorysafeharboris inapplicableto
Synchronyjd. 11258-59, andthat numeroudactssupport thenferencethat ExchangeAct
Defendantsknew or recklesslydisregardedhattheir statementsandomissiors, assetforth . . .
aboveweremateriallyfalseandmisleadingvhenmade,”id. 1 260;seealso id.{1261-85.

According to LeadPlaintiffs, thestocksalesof Ms. Keane Mr. DoublesandMr.
Quindlendetailedabovewasinsider tradingn violation of Section20A of the ExchangAct
becauseheysold Synchrony commastock“while in possessionf material,nonpublic
information about [Synchrony’s] underwriting standaatsdpracticesandits relationshipswith
its retail partners.’1d. 1 309.

OvertheClassPeriod,Ms. Keaneallegedlypersonallyprofited by selling 64,744shares,
with grossproceed®of $2,261,86@andnetproceeds of $1,608,58f. 1 312;Mr. Doubles
allegedlypersonallyprofited byselling 33,477shareswith grossproceedf $1,175,25aAndnet
proceed®f $747,743jd. 1 313;andMr. Quindlenallegedlypersonallyprofited by selling
48,786shareswith grossproceedof $1,722,61@Gandnetproceeds of $932,90M.  314.

At thesametime the Exchangéct Defendantallegedlyweresellingtheir stock the

LeadPlaintiffs allegedlypurchasedhtotal of 782,580haresof Synchrony commostockfor
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morethan$27.2million, id. 1 315,andtheydetail purchase$y otherclassmembersaswell.
LeadPlaintiffs allegethattheir purchasef Synchrony commostock contemporaneousith
theseallegedinsidersales causedhemto pay“artificially inflated prices,”andthat“they would
not havepurchased®ynchrony commostockat thepricestheypaid,or atall, if theyhadbeen
aware”of this artificial inflation. Id. { 317.

Ms. Keane Mr. DoublesandMr. QuindlenalsoallegedlyviolatedSection20(a) of the
ExchangeAct for their misrepresentationsecauseheyareallegedly“controlling persons of
Synchrony.”ld. T 319.

5. ClassAction AllegationsUnder the SecuritiesAct

In additionto the aboveallegationgelatedto claimsunder the Exchangkct, Lead
Plaintiffs alsoassers strict liability andnegligenceclaimsunder theSecuritiesAct “on behalfof
itself andthememberof theclasswho purchasear otherwiseacquiredthe Synchrony notem
the Offering andsuffereddamagessaresult’ Id. 1 320.

Defendantallegedly*madea seriesof materially untruestatementandomissionsof
materialfacts’ in Synchrony’sregistrationstatementpreliminaryprospectus, prospectus)d
other publicfilings incorporated byeferenceor otherwisedeemedartof theregistration
statemerit(“Offering Materials”)in connectiorwith the Offering of the Synchrony bites,
which has$1 billion aggregatgrincipalamount duén 2027.1d. 11 322, 326.

Lead Plaintiffsallegethatthe Securities Act Individual Defendarsigecifically“were
required to supervise the preparation and dissemination of the [Offering’s]rRgist

Statement.’ld. § 339. They allege that the Securities Act Individual Defendants had a duty:

5> Specifically, these materials are Synchrony’s AalriReport on Form & for 2016 filed with the SEC on
February 23, 2017, the preliminary prospectus supplement filed with the SEC on No2&nd@t7, a pricing term
sheet filed with the SEC on November 28, 2017, a prospectus supplement filed with thie S&¢&mber 30,
2017.1d. 19 326-27.
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(@) to disseminate promptly complete, accurate, and truthful
information with respect to Synchrony; (b) to correct any previously
issued statements from any source that had become materially
misleading or untrue; and (c) to disclose any trends that would
materially affect earnings and the present and future operating
resuts of Synchrony, so that the market price of Synchrony’s
publicly traded securities would be based upon truthful and accurate
information.
Id. § 342.

On Septembefl6, 2016, Synchrongllegedlyfiled with the SecuritiesandExchange
Commission(*SEC) theregistrationstatementwhichwassigned by th&ecuritiesAct
Individual Defendantsld. | 324.The Offering allegedlywasunderwrittenby Underwriter
Defendantslid. § 325.

LeadPlaintiffs allegethat theOffering Materialscontain the followingstatemat:

Our business benefits from longstanding and collaborative
relationships with our partners, including some of the nation’s
leading retailers and manutacers with welknown consumer
brands. We believe our partaggntric business model has been
succesful because it aligns our interests with those of our partners
and provides substantial value to both our partners and our
customers. Our partners promatgr credit products because they
generate increased sales and strengthen customer loyalty.
Id. 1191353-55(emphasiomitted) Accordingto the LeadPlaintiffs, the precedingtatement
allegedly“materially misstatecandomittedmaterialfactssufficientto renderthemnot
misstated, becausef their precedingallegationsegardingDefendantsmisrepresetations of
Synchrony’s underwritingracticesandretail partnerrelationshipsld. § 356.

LeadPlaintiffs highlight additional portions of Synchrony’s 20E6rm 10-K asmaterial
misstatementspecificallywhereSynchronyallegedlyemphasizeds “stable asseqjuality;” that
the“credit environmentemainedavorableduring 2016;"andotherremarksindicating

Synchronywas“not anticipat[ing] makinghangedo [its] underwriting standardsld. § 357.

LeadPlaintiffs alsoallegethatthe foregoingnisstatementalso“fail[ed] to disclosematerial,
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non-publicfactswhose non-disclosurendered’the statementématerially misstated.ld.
358;seealso id.{{358-59 reiteratingthemisstatementatissue) FurthermorePefendants
allegedlyfailed to investigate,anddid notpossesseasonablgroundsfor thebeliefsthat“the
statematscontainedn the Offering Materialswereaccurateandcompleteandnot misstatedn
all materialaspects.’ld. T 361.

Lead Plaintiffs allegéhatthere was a lack of dukligence on the part of Defendanis,
11 362, 364—67, and that hadfendantsSexercised reasonable care, they would have known of
the material misstatements and omissions alleged heicif§,363.

Fortheir claim underSectionll of theSecuritiesAct, LeadPlaintiffs allegethatthey
suffereddamageg$rom their purchasef the SynchronyNotes,becauseheregistrationstatement
andotherOffering Materialswere“inaccurateandmisleading’ Id. 11370-71.Thisclaimis
broughtagainstthe Defendants fdaheir participationin theissuanceof allegedly“materially
untrueandmisleadingwritten statementso the investing publithatwerecontainedn the
Offering Materials.”Id. § 375.Theclaim underSedion 15 of theSecuritiesAct is brought
againstthe SecuritiesAct Individual Defendantsnly, basedontheir positionsasdirectorsor
seniorofficersof Synchronyld. 1380-81.

LeadPlaintiffs alsoseekto bring heir claimsunder theSecuritiesAct as aclassaction
under Rule 23 of thEederalRulesof Civil Procedureld. 1384-89.

B. Procedural History

The Courtassumesgamiliarity with the underlying procedural historgeeRuling and
OrderonMots.to AppointLeadPl. andLeadCounsebt 4—7,ECFNo. 59 (Feb.5, 2019).

OnFeblruary5, 2019, the Court appointédP G asLeadPlaintiff andBernsteinLitowitz

Berger& GrossmarLLP asLeadCounsefor theClass.Id. at 13.
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OnMarch 25, 2019, the Coudua spont@rderedi(1) consolidation of th®erivative
Actionswith this action,the SecuritieClassAction; (2) assignment cdiny relatedactionsthat
are“subsequentlyiled, removed, otransferredo this District to this Court;” and(3)
consolidation ofinyrelatedactionsassignedo this Courtwith this action.Order,ECFNo. 73
(Mar. 25, 2019)“ConsolidationOrder”). As aresult,two shareholder derivativactionsbrought
on behalfof Synchronyby JeffreyGilbertandMaureenAldridge (“Derivative Plaintiffs}—
Gilbertv. Keaneet al., No. 3:19ev-130,andAldridgev. Keaneet al., No. 3:19¢v-369
(“Derivative Actions”)—were consolidatedvith the SecuritiesClassAction on thesameday.
Notice of ConsolidationECFNos.74—-75(Mar. 25, 2019).

OnApril 5, 2019 L eadPlaintiffs filed their AmendedComplaint.Am. Compl.

OnApril 12, 2019DerivativePlaintiffs movedfor relief from the Consolidatio®rder,
andrequestedhat the Court(1) severthe Derivative Actionsfrom the SecuritiesClassAction or
(2) separatelyonsolidate th®erivative Actions under a newaptionandappoint theRosen
Law Firm, P.A.,andThe Brown Law Firm, P.C.,asCo-LeadCounselMot. for Relieffrom
Orderfor Consolidatiorand Appointment ofCo-LeadCounsefor Pls.at 2—3,ECFNo. 80 (Apr.
12, 2019)"Mot. for ConsolidatiorRelief”).

OnJune 26, 201Pefendantgnovedto dismissthe AmendedComplaint. Motto
Dismiss,ECFNo. 98 (June 26, 2®). In additionto a supporting memorandumiefs.” Mem. of
Law in Supp. ofTheir Mot. to DismisstheAm. Compl.,ECFNo. 99 (June 26, 201¢)Defs.’
Mem”), Defendantslsofiled eightyexhibits, ECFNos.99-1to 99-80,which includetranscripts
of earning<alls, transcriptsof industryconferencesandrelevantjournalor newsarticles most

of whichwerereferencedn LeadPlaintiffs’ AmendedComplaint.
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In addition,Defendantdiled the following excerptedoublic disclosuresyhichwerealso
filed with the SEC

e Form10-Qs® indicatingSynchrony’squarterlyrepors from thethird quarter of
2015,ECFNo. 99-59,andthethird quarterof 2016,ECFNo. 99-10;

e Form8-Ks,’ indicatingSynchrony’scurrentreportfrom 2016,ECFNo. 99-5,and
2017,ECFNo. 99-66;

e 2015Form10-K .2 indicatingSynchrony’s 201%nnualreport ECFNo. 99-62;

e 2016Form10K, indicatingSynchrony’s 201@nnualreport ECFNo. 99-24;

e 2017Form10<, indicatingSynchrony’s 201annualreport ECFNo. 99-40;and
e 2018Form 10K, indicatingSynchrony’s 201&nnualreport ECFNo. 99-52.

On August 21, 2019, eadPlaintiffs opposed thenotionto dismiss.Pls.”Mem. of Law in
Opp’nto Defs.” Mot. to DismisstheAm. Compl.,ECFNo. 116 (Aug. 21, 2019)'PIs.” Opp’'n”).
In supportlLeadPlaintiffs filed twenty-nine exhibits,including theredactedValmartComplaint,
transcriptdrom various earningsall held by CapitalOneFinancialCorporationandDiscover
FinancialServicesandtranscriptdrom Synchrony’s presentatioms$certainindustry

conferencesExs.,ECFNo0s.116-2to 116-29.

6 SeeForm 16Q, Securities and Exchange Commissiavailable ahttps://www.sec.gov/fast
answers/answersform10ghtm.htflalst visitedMar. 28, 2020) (“The federal securities laws require public
companies to disclose information on an ongoing basis. For example, domesticnasstesgbmit annual reports
on Form10-K, quarterly reports on Form 4@, and current reports dform 8-K for a number of specified events
and must comply with a variety of other disclosure requirements. The Fe@riridudes unaudited financial
statements and provides a continuing view of the company's financial position duringrtfiéhge@port must be
filed for each of the first three fiscal quarters of the company's fiseal"y(hyperlhks omitted)).

7 SeeForm 8K, Securities and Exchange Commissiavailable ahttps://www.segov/fast
answers/answersform8khtm.ht(fdst visitedMar. 28, 2020) (“In addition to filing annual reports &orm 10-

K and quarterly reports drorm 10-Q, public companies must report certain material corporate events on a more
current basis-orm 8-K is the ‘current report’ companies must file with the SEC to announce majusekiat
shareholders should know abdghyperlinks omitted).

8 SeeForm 106K, Securities and Exchange Commissiavailable ahttps://www.sec.gov/fasinswers/answers
form10khtm.htm(last visitedMar. 28, 2020) (“The federal securities laws require public companies to disclose
information on an ongoing basis. . The annual ngort on Form 1€K provides a comprehensive overview of the
company's business afidancial condition and includes audited financial statements.”).
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OnOctoberll, 2019, Defendanteplied.Defs.” ReplyMem. of Law in Further Supp. of
Their Mot. to Dismissthe Am. Compl.,ECFNo. 118(Oct. 11, 2019)"“Defs.” Reply”).

OnOctober24, 2019] eadPlaintiffs filed a notice of additional authority concerning the
decisionin Ontario TeachersPensiorPlan Boardv. TevaPharmaceutical Industries LtdNo.
3:17-cv-558, 2019 WL 467483@. Conn.Sept 25, 2019). PIsNotice of Add’l Auth. in
Further Opp’nto Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss,ECFNo. 124(Oct. 24, 2019)“PIs.’ Notice of Add'l
Auth.”).

On November 1, 2019 efendantsespondedDefs.’ Resp to Pls.” Notice of Add'l
Auth., ECFNo. 126(Nov. 1, 2019)(“Defs.” Resp to Add’l Auth.”).

OnMarch 26, 2020, the Couheld ahearingon Defendantsmotionto dismissand
DerivativePlaintiffs’ motionfor relief from consolidatior?. Minute Entry,ECFNo. 151 (Mar.

26, 2020).

At thathearing, the CoudeparatelgrantedDerivativePlaintiffs relief from
consolidationOrder,ECFNo. 152(Mar. 26, 2020) The Courtseveredhe Derivative Actions
from the SecuritiesClass Action,andsepargely consolidated th®erivative Actionsinto their
own action underthe caption ofn re Synchrony FinancidDerivativeLitigation, with thelead

casebeingNo. 3:19¢v-130.1d.

9 Also pendingbeforethe Courtis LeadPlaintiffs’ motionfor a partialmodificationof the discoverystayimposed
underthe PrivateSecuritied_itigation ReformAct—LeadPlaintiffs requesthatthe CourtorderDefendantgo
produceanunredacteaopy of the complaintin Walmartv. SynchronyBank No. 5:18cv-5216(TLB) (W.D. Ark.
2018. PIs.” Mot. for PartialModification of the PSLRADiscoveryStay,ECFNo. 121(Oct.21,2019)(“Pls.” Mot.
to Modify PSLRADiscoveryStay”); Pls.” Mem. of Law in Supp.of Pls.” Mot. to Modify PSLRADiscoveryStay,
ECFNo. 122(0ct.21,2019).

Defendanthaveopposedhe modificationof thediscoverystayandarguedthatLeadPlaintiffs failed to
demonstrateindueprejudice Defs.” Mem. of Law in Opp’nto PIs.” Mot. to Modify PSLRADiscoveryStay,ECF
No. 128(Nov. 12,2019).

The Court’'sdispositionof Defendantsmotionto dismissrenderghis motionmoa, andthe Courtwill rule
accordinglyaftertheentranceof this ruling andorder.

27



The Courtalso amendedhecaptionof this case the SecuritiesClassAction, No. 3:18-
cv-1818,to In re Synchrony Financigbecuritied.itigation. Order,ECFNo. 153 (Mar. 26,
2020).

Il. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A complaint mustontaina “shortandplain statemenbf theclaim showingthatthe
pleadeiis entitledto relief.” Fed.R. Civ. P.8(a).Any claimthatfails “to stateaclaim upon
whichrelief canbe granted’will bedismissedFed.R. Civ. P.12(b)(6).Whenreviewinga
complaint undeFederalRule ofCivil Procedurd 2(b)(6),the courttakesall factualallegations
in the complainastrue.lgbal, 556U.S.at 678 The courtalsoviewstheallegationsn the light
most favorabléo theplaintiff anddrawsall inferencesn theplaintiff's favor. Cohenv. S.A.C.
Trading Corp, 711 F.3d 353, 35@d Cir. 2013);seealso Yorkv. Ass’nof theBar of theCity of
N.Y, 286 F.3d 122, 128d Cir. 2002)(*On a motionto dismissfor failure to stateaclaim, we
construe the complaiim the light most favorablw the plaintiff, acceptinghecomplaint’s
allegationsastrue.”)).

A court considering anotionto dismissunder Rulel2(b)(6)generallylimits its review
“to thefactsasassertedvithin the fourcornersof thecomplaint,the documentattachedo the
complaintasexhibits,andany documentsncorporatedn the complaint byeference."McCarthy
v.Dun & BradstreetCorp, 482 F.3d 184, 19(@d Cir. 2007). A courtmayalsoconsider
“mattersof which judicial noticemay betaken”and“documentsitherin plaintiffs’ possession
or of which plaintiffs hadknowledgeandrelied onin bringing suit.”"Brassv. Am.Film Techs.,
Inc., 987 F.2d 142, 150 (2dir. 198); Patrowiczv. TransamericaHomeFirst,Inc., 359F. Supp.
2d 140, 144D. Conn. 2005).

For most claims brought under sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchahged SEC

Rule 10b-5, the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)s@&®po
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heightened pleading requirements governed by the PSLRA or Rule 9(b) of the Federal Rules of
Civil ProcedureSee Rombach v. Chgrigh5 F.3d 164, 170 (2d Cir. 2004A€ the district court
observed, the particularity requirement of Rule 9(b) applies to securities faamd brought
under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 . . .. The district court concluded that the same heightened
pleading standard applies to securities claims brought under Section 11 and Sect{@h 12(a)
when premised on averments of flallVe agree.”)see also Fresno Cty. Emps.’ Ret. Ass'n v.
comsScore, In¢ 268 F. Supp. 3d 526, 535 (S.D.N.Y. 2017) (“A claim under Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act sounds in fraud and must meet the pleading requirements of Rule 9(b) of the
Federal RulesfdCivil Procedure and of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
(“PSLRA".]"); Inre Initial Pub. Offering Sec. Litig241 F. Supp. 2d 281, 334-35 (S.D.N.Y.
2003) (“Congress intended that the PSLRA supersede the Federal Rules only as to those
elemants which the PSLRA explicitly mentions (i.e., scienter and matergdtatements and
omissions). See S. Rep. No. 104-98, at 15. In all other respects, the Rules govern these
pleadings.”).

Under Rule 9(b), the complaint must “(1) specify the statembatghe plaintiff
contends were fraudulent, (2) identify the speal®rsiate where and when the statements were
made, and (4) explain why the statements were fraudulane’Bank of Am. AIG Disclosure
Sec. Litig, 980 F. Supp. 2d 564, 570 (S.D.N.Y. 20%8Fd 566 F. App’x 93 (2d Cir. 2014)
(quotingATSI Commc’ns, Inc. v. Shaar Fund, L.#P3 F.3d 87, 99 (2d Cir. 2007%ge also
Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b) (requiring that a complaint that alleges fraud plead “the ciaogesst
constituting fraud . . . with particularity.”).

On the loss causation element of securities fcdaighs, however, Plaintiffs must meet
only Rule 8 pleading requiremen&ee Dura Pharm., Inc. v. Broud®44 U.S. 336, 338 (2005)

(“We concede that the Federal Rules of Civil Procedegeire only ‘a short and plain statement
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of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.” Fed. Rule Civ. Pro2)3¢@nd we
assume, at least for argument’s sake, that neither the Rules nor theesestaitites impose any
special furtherequirement in respect to the pleading of proximate causation or economic 10ss.”).
II. DISCUSSION

Lead Plaintiffsassert five claims for relief: (Miolations of Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and SEC Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, against
Synchrony, Ms. Keane, Mr. Doubles, and Mr. Quindlen; (2) violations of Section 20A of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78t-1, against Ms. Keane, Mr. Doubles, and Mr. Quindlen; (3)
violations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.Cit@&)&gainst Ms. Keane, Mr.
Doubles, and Mr. Quindleri4) violations of Section 1af the Securities Acib U.S.C. 8§ 77k,
against Defendants; and (5) violations of Section 15 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 770,
against th&ecurities Actindividual Defendants. The claims under Sections 11 and 15 are newly
added claims purportedly brought by APG Fixed.

Defendants argue that the Amended Complaint should be dismissed for the following
reasons: (1) Lead Plaintiffs fail to plead any actionable misrepresengatof April 28, 2017,
(2) they fail to plead a strong inference of scienter with respect to statemetesbefore April
28, 2017; (3) they fail to plead an actionable misrepresentation after April 28, 2017; (4ithey f
to plead particularized factgving rise to a strong inference of scienter for statements made after
April 28, 2017; (5) their insider trading claim under Section 20A fails, as does theirwataier
Section 20(a); and (6) the Amended Complaint fails to state a Securities Act claim.

The Cour will addres®ach of these issues in turn.
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A. Claims Under Section 10(b)f the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act makes it unlawful &y person, directly or
indirectly. . .”
[tjo use or employ, in connection with therchase or sale of any
security. . .any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in
contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission may
prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the
protection of investors.
15 U.S.C. § 78j(b).
SEC Rule 10b-5 makes it unlawful for “any person, directly or indirectly . . .”:
(a) To employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,
(b) To make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to
state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made,
in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading, or
(c) To engage in any act, practice, anurse of business which
operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person,
connection with the purchase or sale of any security.
17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.
“To state a cause of action under section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, a plaintiff eadt pl
that the defendant made a false statement or omitted a material fact, with sanehntiest a
plaintiff's reliance on defendant’s action caused plaintiff inju§pecial Situations Fund 11l QP,
L.P. v. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA, L&l5 F. App’x 72, 74 (2d Cir. 2016) (quotifgn
Leandro Emergency Med. Grp. Profit Sharing Plan v.iBiorris Cos, 75 F.3d 801, 808 (2d
Cir. 1996)).
In monetary damages suits against non-controlling persons, pldinsifismust specify
each allegedly misleadingegement or omission. 15 U.S.C. 8§88 78i)(1)(A)—(B). Lentell v.
Merrill Lynch & Co, 396 F.3d 161, 168 (2d Cir.2005) (internal citation omitteelt. denied

546 U.S. 935 (2005). Plaintiffs themust demonstrate that each misstatement is material.
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Initial Pub. Offering Sec. Litig.399 F. Supp. 2d 298, 306 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (“A plafrist
allege a material misstatement . . . and that misstatement must be the cause of thes estiff’
..."). “For an undisclosed fact to be material, ‘therust be a substantial likelihood that the
disclosure of the omitted fact would have been viewed by the reasonable investor as having
significantly altered the ‘total mix’ of information made availablgdstellano v. Young &
Rubicam, InG.257 F.3d 171, 180 (2d Cir. 2001) (quotBasic Inc. v. Levinsq85 U.S. 224,
231-32 (1988)).

Misstatenents of corporate success come in two varieties: vague and inactionable
puffery, and material misrepresentations of existing fisak v. Kasak®16 F.3d 300, 315
(2d Cir. 2000) (“Here, the complaint alleges that the defendants did more than justsffer
predictions; the defendants stated that the inventory situation was ‘in good shape’ or ‘unde
control’ while they allegedly knew that the contrary was true . . . . these stateneeatslanly
false and misleading.”). “[S]tatements containing sing@enomic projections, expressions of
optimism, and other puffery are insufficient” to support a claim of securities ficaud.

By contrast, “defendants may be liable for misrepresentations of existing fects.”
(citing In re Prudential Sec. Inc. Ltd. Raerships Litig, 930 F. Supp. 68, 74-75 (S.D.N.Y.
1996)). To withstand a motion to dismiss, Plaintiffs must plead more than a laggardly eespons
to problems or lack of corporate skepticigvtalin v. XL Capital Ltd.499 F. Supp. 2d 117, 161
(D. Conn. 2007)aff'd, 312 F. App’x 400 (2d Cir. 2009) (dismissal of a second amended
complaint where the defendants “should have been more alert and more skeptical, but nothing
alleged indicates that management was promoting a fraud.”). Rather, Plamistfplead
material misrepresentations, such as a failure “to timely disclose material datareghilted in

misrepresentations of the defendant compan|yisjent finances where it was clearly pled that
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the defendants knew or should have known betteré DRDGQ.D Ltd. Sec. Litig.472 F.
Supp. 2d 562, 572 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (citiNgvak 216 F.3d at 311).

Plaintiffs also must meehe Private Securities Ligiation Reform Acs heightened
pleading standard by “stat[ing] the reason or reasons why the statement idingslaad, if an
allegation regarding the statement or omission is made on information and beliefling] stat
with particularity all facts o which that belief is formed.” 15 U.S.C. 88 78(b)(1)(B). If
Plaintiffs’ allegations are based on confidential sources, those individualdentddscribed in
the complaint with sufficient particularity to support the probability that a person po#iion
occupied by the source would possess the information allelgegs.” Ret. Sys. of Gov't of the
Virgin Islands v. Blanford794 F.3d 297, 305 (2d Cir. 2015) (quotigvak 216 F.3d at 314).

LeadPlaintiffs allegethat SynchronyMs. Keane,andMr. Doubles

eachmademateriallyfalseandmisleadingstatementandomissions
concerning, among other thingg:thequality of Synchrony’sredit
portfolio; (i) Synchrony’s purported “consisterghd“disciplined’
approachto underwriting; and (iii) the strength of Synchrony’s
relationshipswith its key retail partnersand purportedlack of any
pushbacKrom themon Synchrony’shangeso its creditapprovals.

Am. Compl.q 181.
FurthermoreleadPlaintiffs allegethatthe statementslescribecabove

were also materially misleading for their failure to disclose the
following material adverse facts: (i) in mRD16, after years of
approving risky subprime borrowers, Synchrony dgigantly
tightened its underwriting standards; (ii) the tightened underwriting
standards and resulting decline in subprime approvals created a
conflict between Synchrony and its pams, including Walmart
(then Synchrony’s largest partner, with a custorbhase that
included significant amounts of subprime customers); (iii) Walmart
told Synchrony in 2017 to approve more borrowers; (iv) the conflict
between Synchrony and Walmart jeopaed Walmart's renewal of

its contract with Synchrony; (v) in the Fall2817, when Synchrony
approached Walmart about renewing the Synchidaymart
contract, Walmart “balked” at the renewal; (vi) Walmart informed
the Synchrony Board in 2017 of Walmart@ncerns that Synchrony
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needed to approve more customers and was keegmguch of the
cards’ revenue; and (vii) in 2017, Walmart issued a formal request
for contract bids from other credit card companies.

Id. 9 208.
a. Alleged MisrepresentationsMade Before April 28, 2017

Defendants argue that Lead Plaintiffs “fail to adequately plead any actionable
misrepresentation or scienter” for statements made between October 16, 2016ila2fl Apr
2017.Defs.” Mem. at 19

Defendantdirst argue thathe Amended Complaint relies on “improper puzzle pleading,”
and next contenthatLeadPlaintiffs fail to plead the falsity of several statements related to
historical financial numbers or “stable asset qualily.’at 19-21. Specifically, Defendants point
to statements related to net chaajés and loan losses on October 21, 2016, January 20, 2017,
February 23, 2017, and snippets from Synchrony’s 3Q16 Form 10-Q and 2016 Hdrrid 18
20-21.

Defendantslso argue that Lead Plaintiffs fail to plead the falsitgmgfstatements
describing Synchrony’s underwriting as “disciplined or “consistddt.at 2:-22. According to
Defendants, Lead Plaintiffs do not base these statements regarding “loosenmigétieze,”
“drastic,” and “wholesale, brodoased” tightening in underwriting “on any facts, let alone
partiaularized ones.1d. at 22.

Defendantgurtherargue that Lead Plaintiffs do not plead any facts about when or how
Synchrony allegedly loosened its underwriting standards before the Class Period, nor do they
plead any facts supporting the contention that increased loan losses and nebftharge-
announced in April 2017 resulted from allegedly loosened underwriting or that Synchrony

tightened its underwriting as allegéd. at 22-23. Instead of identifying spéic changes to
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Synchrony’s underwriting evincing “drastic” tightenirigefendants contenddhLead Plaintiffs
“rely on conclusory assertions and anecdatas low-evel FEs.”Id. at 23.

Finally, Defendants argue that Lead Plaintiffs misrepresented bubl@s’s July 27,

2018 statement, and that it was not an admission of extensive underwriting changes, but rather
one of the numerous disclosures by Defendants about “(i) ongoing tweaking of underwriting, and
(ii) the refinements that had been and were@eiade.”ld. at 25-26. Defendants submit that

Lead Plaintiffs’ “quibble with the adjectives used (or not used) does not and can@ot stat
securities fraud,id. at 26, and that the post-April 28, 2017 statements must also separately be
dismissed as instareef non-actionable puffery or statements of opinidrat 26-27.

In response, Lead Plaintiffs first contend that the Amended Complaiot fpuzzle
pleading,” because it “details specific false statements . . . and why each islinfdse and
misleading.” PIs.” Opp’n at 18ext, Lead Plaintiffs argue that Defendsinepeated denials of
tightened underwriting and claims of “consistent” underwriting were materisdly fand
misleadingld. at 17~18.Lead Plaintiffs usstatementsnade on or after April 28, 2017—
statements that “admit” changes in underwriirtg support theifchallenge [of|Defendants’
[pre-April 28, 2017] denials that Synchrony had tightened underwritidigat 18-19.Lead
Plaintiffs contend they havsufficierly pled facts about Synchrony’s earlier loosening, namely
that “Synchrony loosened underwriting by expanding credit offerings, and net receivables, by
converting[private label credit cardsihto Dual Cards,” which increases Synchrony’s credit
exposure without changing its opening FICO stratificatitthsat 19-20 (citing Am. Compl{{
9-10, 52-56).

As for statements about net chawgfés and loan losses, Lead Plaintiffs contdmat
Defendantslater admitted to tightening underwriting in ra2016,” ard that Walmart’'s

complaint also alleged Synchrony exposed them to excess creditl risk20. To support their
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allegations thathte statements on October 27, 2016 and February 23, 2017 about neto¢harge-
rates, loan loss provisionand “stable assquality” were “materially misleading when made
Lead Plaintiffs argue it is not “fraud by hindsight” because Synchrony contemporaneously
claimed the favorability of the credit environment in 20&6at 21-22.

Finally, Lead Plaintiffs contend that Defendants’ denials of tightened undeaitid
claims of “consistent” or “disciplined” underwriting were not puffery, “but mpsesentations of
existing facts that were central to Synchrony’s businédsdt 22. According to Lead Plaintiffs,
these statenmts “misleadingly failed to disclose Synchrony’s need to tighten underwriting,
Synchrony’s risky underwriting of the Walmart portfolio, and the true NCOs and loan losses
Synchrony faced.Id. at 23.The statementalso arenot opinions in Lead Plaintiffs’iew; and if
they were opinions, Lead Plaintiffs contend they are actioniablat 24-25.

In reply, Defendants argue that Plaintiffs have failed to adequately allegerirthe first
portion of the Class Period. Defs.” Reply at 2—-11.

The Courtagrees

“An alleged misrepresentation is material if ‘there is substantial likelihood that a
reasonable person would consider it important in deciding whether to buy or sell shares of
stock.” Singh v. Cigna Corp918 F.3d 57, 63 (2d Cir. 2019) (citation omitted)sekurities
fraud plaintiff thus plausiblynustallege that a statement would be misleading to a reasonable
investor given thetdttal mixX’ of available informationSeeCastellang 257 F.3d at 180
(“[T] heremust be a substantial likelihood that the disclosure of the omitted fact would have bee
viewed ly the reasonable investor as having significantly altered the ‘total mix’ of infiamat
made available.{citation and internal quotation markmnitted). Lead Plaintiffs’ allegations,

although lengthy, fall into one of two categori€ly Defendants draisally tightened their
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underwriting in response to underwriting that was previously too lax{Zamkfendants failed
to disclose th tightening of underwriting as it occurred.

For the reasons explained belowamely, that Lead Plaintifisave narrowly dcused on
selectstatementsto the exclusion ddill of the publicly available information and disclosures—
the Court finds thatead Plaintiffs haveot met their heightened pleading burden with respect to
statements made befoigril 28, 2017.

As an initial matter, “a material misstatement must be false at the time it was inade.”
re Express Scripts Holdings Co. Secs. Littgl.3 F. App’x 9, 12 (2d Cir. 2019) (citation
omitted).Whether a statement isisteading must be “evaluated not onlythy literal truth of
the statement but also by the context and manner of present&didiguiotingSingh 918 F.3d at
67) (quotation marks omitted).

Consequently, Lead Plaintiffs may not use Synchrony’s disclosures or admissions on or
after April 28, 2017as evidence of earlier allegedsrepresentations, because they “cannot
proceed with ‘allegations of fraud by hindsightri're Express Script§¥73 F. App’x at 14
(quotingNovak 216 F.3d at 309)-urthermorestatements are neither false or misleading if they
“are too general to cause a reasonable investor to rely on them’ and ‘lack the séritaf de
projections that might require later correctiond” at 12.In this case, Defendantstatements
about Synchrony’s “stable asset qualityglatively stable” actual net chargdf rates,and

“consisteny’ “disciplined” underwritingare not material misstatements that would mislead a
reasonable investor the “total mix” of available information.

“Corporate officials . . . are only responsible for revealing those materialresagonably
available to them.Novak 216 F.3d at 309 (citin@enny v. Barber576 F.2d 465, 470 (2d Cir.

1978)). And even if staments about “stable asset quality,” net charffi® and loan losses were

misrepresentations or false, “meaningful cautionary language . . . can rendeosssi
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misrepresentations immaterialt re Duane Reade Inc. Secs. Litigo. 02 Civ. 6478 (NR),
2003 WL 22801416, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 25, 2003) (citation omitted). Here, the underlying
financial documents, when reviewed in their totality, provide “meaningful cautionayydage.”

As to Lead Plaintiffs’ allegations that Defendants’ statemaiéait net charge-offs and
loan losses were misrepresations, they “must do more than allege that Defendants could not
have actually believed that loan loss reserves were adequate because they lasedincre
reserves.’Malin, 499 F. Supp. 2dt 148 (colleting cases)see also Dennyp76 F.2cat470
(dismissing Rule 10& claim when plaintiff simply pointed to later disclosures as evidence of
misstatements in the original disclosures).

As to Defendants’ statements about “stable asset quality,” Lead Plaintiffsihazely
failed to demonstratihatthey were false. As one example, in Defendants’ 2016 Forky 10-
ECF No. 99-24 at 73stable asset qualityis a heading, where the paragraph explairg@ater
detail Synchrony’s actual net chargif rates, and notetat these results were corgent on
factors not yet knownSee, e.g2016 Form 10-K, ECF No. 99-24 at 40 (paragraph explaining in
detail the heading “Our results of operations and growth depend on our ability to retangexisti
partners and attract new partners” (emphasis omitted)).

Indeed, Synchrony noted: “The underlying assumptions, estimates and assessments we
use to provide for [loan] losses are updated periodically . . . Changes in [loan losajesstiam
significantly affect the allowance and provision for losses. It isiplesthat we will experience
credit losses that are different from our current estimat2816 Form 10-K, ECF No. 924 at
104;see idat 48 (“Changes in economic conditions . . ., both within and outside our control,
may require an increase in theoatance for loan losses. We may underestimate our incurred
losses and fail to maintain an allowance for loan losses sufficient to accothederosses.”

(emphasis omitted)).

38



As to Defendants’ statements about “consistent” or “disciplined” undemgyitead
Plaintiffs have failed to plead with particularity the falsity of theseAp®rl 28, 2017 statements.
Preliminarily, these statements are “vague . . . generic statements [that]icdteaeasonable
reliance.”Singh 918 F.3d at 60. And when viewed in thetal mix” of available information,
these statemengse insufficient to support Lead Plaintifigcurities fraualaim.

Even asDefendants referred to their underwriting as “consistent” or “disciplined,”
Defendantsalso regularly disclosed on the earnings calls and in various documents that they
consistently modified their underwriting standards based ospbeficprogramand various
factors For example, during thmonference callimw December 7, 2016, in response to the
analyst’s question about Synchrony’s credit underwriting, before Mr. Doubles reférence
Synchrony’s underwriting as “consistent,” he also statedr alia, “We’re always making
tweaks and refinements and modifying the model a little bit.” Ex. 19: Tr. Goldman Sachs
Conference, ECF N®9-19 (Dec. 7, 2016¥ee als®2015 Form 10-K, ECF No. 99-62 at 20
(“We periodicallyanalyze performance trends of accounts originated at different score levels as
compared to projected performance, and adjust the minimum score or the apedinlymit to
manage risk); 2016 Form 10-K, ECF No. 99-24 at 20 (“We periodically anapyedormance
trends of accounts originated at different score levels as compared to projefiedaee, and
adjust the minimum score or the opening crediitlto manageisk. Different scoring models
may be used depending upon bureau type and account spudcat 48 (“Our ability to
manage credit risk and avoid high chaaferates also may be adversely affected by economic
conditions that may be di€ult to predict such as the recefibancialcrisis . . . There can be no
assurance thatur credit underwting and risk management strategwal enable us to avoid
high charge-off levels or delinquencies, or that our allowance for loan losses suilifiseent to

cover actual losses.”)
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As a result, Lead Plaintiffs have failed to allege that these statemstanding alone or
viewedtogether withtheir other allegatiors-are material misrepresentations on which a
reasonable investor would rely, given the broader context of all of the publicly disclosed
information Synchrony made available to investors.

In any event, many of the citstitementstaken out of conteXtom more extensive and
detailed earnings calls or public disclosures, would constitatgionablepuffery or opinion.
SeeRombach v. Chan@®55 F.3d 164, 174 (2d Cir. 2004)E] xpressions of puffery and
corporate optimism do not give rise to securities violatipn4Vhile certain statements, viewed
in isolation, may be mere puffery, when the stat@mare made repeatedly in an effort
to reassure the investing public about matters particularly important to the company and
investors, those statements may become material to investors.Signet Jewelers Ltd. Secs.
Litig., No. 16 Civ. 6728 (CM), 2018 WL 6167889, at *11 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 26, 2018) (internal
guotation marks andtations omitted)Here, though, as the Court has already outlined, the “total
mix” of information would inform a reasonable investor that Defendants were tantbis
“modifying” their underwriting, even imany of the challenged statemeakb®ut “consigent”
and “disciplined” underwriting were made in direct response to analyst questions about
Synchrony’s underwriting and credit decisions.

Given the “total mix” of publicly availale information and the immateriality of many of
the statements, the LeadaPitiffs have failed to allege plausibly that reasonable investors would
have been misled by Defendants’ statements, much of which was optimism or puffery.

Accordingly, all claims stemming from Defendants’ alleged misstatements regarding
Synchrony’s net dirgeoff rates, loan losses, “stable asset quality,” and “consistent,”

“disciplined” underwriting—essentially all prépril 28, 2017 statementswil be dismissed.
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b. Alleged MisrepresntationsMade on or After April 28, 2017

With respect to statements made on or after April 28, 2D&fgndantdirst argue that
Lead Plaintiffs failagainto adequatelyplead anyactionable misrepresentation. Defs.” Mem. at
28. As Defendants view the lat\second Circuit precedent precludes” Lé&ddintiffs’ claim
that “Synchrony had some duty to disclose a ‘souring’ of the Walmatrt relationship sédner.”

Defendants contend that Lead Plaintiffs fail to plead the falsity of “statemet#oites
the nature of Synchrony’s underwriting changesasgical’ or ‘targete¢d” statements about
alignment of Synchrony’s interests with its retail partners; and statementsabpuishback”
from retail partners on Synchrony’s underwriting chanfgesat 35-38.Defendants argue that
LeadPlaintiffs mischaracterize or ignore the context of Ms. Keaaed Mr. Doubles’s
statements expressing confidence in renevalsit 38-39. According to Defendants, none of
the challenged statements about renewals were specifi@lmart they al® submit that Ms.
Keane and Mr. Doubles “were not required to take a negative view of their busingecisos
to accompany their disclosures with the particular pejorative favored by Plawittifthe
benefit of hindsight.'Id. at 40—-41.

Finally, Defendants argue that they had no duty to disclose each step of the Walmart
negotiations or to predict that Walmart would not renew, because the “discussiens wer
ongoing.”ld. at 4143 (citation omitted)In Defendants’ view, many of thehallenged
statemats made post-April 28, 2017, are also “inactionable puffery on which no reasonable
investor would rely, particularly given the context of Defendants’ repeated warnings about
intense competition for renewaldd. at 43-44.

In responsel,.eadPlaintiffs argue thathey have adequately pled the falsity of
Defendants’ statements that they were “confident” that retail partners would tteziew

contracts, and they were “not getting any pushback on credit” from retail partnér®ppls at
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30. They contend that they have adequately pled that Synchrony tightened its underwriting, “hid
that tightening and its true scope from investors,” and that retail partners, mgc\Wadimart,

“pushed back on Synchrony’s reduced credit approvilsdt 3L. According to Lead Rilintiffs,
contemporaneous faatsrrolorate this retail partner pushback, which further supports the falsity

of Defendants’ “partnecentricbusiness model,” because “[w]hen Synchrony attempted to
mitigate downside on the Walmart gfofio by tightening underwriting, the Company further
misaligned its interests from Walmart'sd. at 32-34.

As for Defendants’ statements about “surgical” underwriting changes, Leatif®ai
point to FEs who state “there was nothing surgical aboet*tittnadbased” changesd. at 34-
35. Forexample, on the commercial side, Lead Plaintiffs emphasize a new FI&@ score of
620, where previously there was no cut-adff.at 35.

According to Lead Plaintiffs, Defendants had a duty to disclose Wdnpaishback and
the allegedly faltering contract renewal negotiations because these events wdyecdingetry
to their contemporaneous public statementsat 35-38. Based on the context, Lead Plaintiffs
submit these statements and nondisclosures are not puffery or opinion, but material
misrepresentations, especially because “the Walmart negotiations providesisimiba
confidence.’ld. at 38-41.

In reply, Defendants submit that many of the challenged statements constitute puffery or
opinion, Defs.” Reply at 14-15, and regardless, they argue that Lead Plaintiffs halentified
any actionable misrepresentatiehecause the statements at issue were notfailsedid
Defendants have a duty to disclose “every step of the Walmart negotiationsiotr tiad

Walmart would not renew/d. at 1114 (internal quotation marks omitted).

The Courtagrees

42



“A duty to update may exist when a statement, reasoaalhe time it is made, becomes
misleading because of a subsequent evamté Int'l Bus. Machs. Corp. Sec. Litjdl63 F.3d
102, 110 (2d Cir. 1998). There is, however, “no duty to update vague statements of optimism or
expressions of opinion,” “statements [that] are not material,” or statethantzre “not forward
looking and do[ ] not contairome factual represéation that remain&live’ in the minds of
investors as a continuing representatiéd.”

“A pure omission is actionable under securities laws only when the corporation it subje
to a duty to disclose the omitted facts, and in antierhselves, Seciinl0(b) and Rule 10b-5 do
not create an affirmative duty to disclose any and all material informatrore”Express Scripts
Holdings Co. Secs. Litig773 F. App’x 9, 14 (2d Cir. 2019) (quotihgre Vivendi, S.A. Sec.

Litig., 838 F.3d 223, 239 (2d Cir. 2016)).

As an initial matter, Defendants’ statemeepressing confidence in partnership
renewals, even Walmart's renewal, are not materially misleading, especially beeéesgadts
warned about the increased competition for renevéalg e.g, Tr. Earnings Call, ECF No. Ex.
99-39at 13(Jan. 19, 2018)\s. Keane dagibing the environment around renewals as
“competitive’); see alsdPipefitters Union Local 537 Pension Fund v. Am. ExpressT78. F.

App’x 630, 633 (2d Cir. 2019)To the extenthese statements implicitly downplayed the risk
that the non-renewal of the Costco Canada Agreement foretold the non-renewal ott¢be Cos
U.S. Agreement, such a connotation was “not sufficiently concrete, specific orainate

impose a duty to updateifing In re Intl Bus. Machs. Corp. Sec. Litigl63 F.3dcat 110).
Here,Defendants’ “statements ‘suggest only hope that . . . the talks would go well’ and ‘did not
become materially misleadivghen the talks did not go well.Ih re Express Spts, 773 F.

App’x at13 (quotingln re Time Warner Inc. Sec. Litj F.3d 259, 267 (2d Cir. 1993)).
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As the Second Circuit recently noted inaaralogous case: “[Lead Plaintifssentially
argues that Defendants should have anticipated the outcome of the negotiations soadnreor tha
negotiations would deteriorate, but in the cmatances here, where the discussions were
ongoing, Defendants did not have a duty to disclose more about the uncertain state of the
negotiations. Id. at 14 €itation omited). Similarly here, “[D]efendants’ lack of clairvoyance
[regarding the Walmart remals] simply does not constitute seties fraud. Acito v. IMCERA
Grp., Inc, 47 F.3d 47, 53 (2d Cir. 1995). As a result, thalteged misstatements wiibt
support aviable securities fraud claim

Finally, no reasonable investor would be misled by Defendants’ statements about their
“completely aligned’interests with retail partners, because these are “vague . . . generic
statements [that] doot invite reasonable ralce,”Singh 918 F.3d at 60,specially wien
viewed in the “total mix” of available informatio8ee, e.g.2017 Form 10-K, ECF No. 99-40
50 (paragraphs explaining the heading “Competition in the consumer finance industry is
intense”).In any event, thee statements constitutedionable puffery on which no reasonable
investor would rely.

As for Defendants’ statements regarding “surgical” changes to Synchrony’s uricerwri
Lead Plaintiffs also fail to allege that these statemestanding alone oriewed in the broader
context of their other allegationsare materiamisrepresentations on which a reasonable
investor would rely.

First, & discussed with respect to Defendants’ statements about “consistent” or
“disciplined” underwriting supraabove Defendants regularly disclosed their constant
modifications of underwriting standards. The use of “surgical” as a descriptos itiatal mix”
of information is another example of a “vague” and “generic” statement thaofailgite

reasonable relianc&ingh 918 F.3d at 60.
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Second, Mr. Doubles’s statements on the July 27, 2018 earnings calls were not false or
contradicted by the Walmart Complaint. Lead Plaintiffs emphasized as a resaefation Mr.
Doubles’sstatement that Walmastnonrenewal was ot due to Synchrony’s tightened
underwriting, Compl. 11 176, 246, yteir citing of the Walmart Complaint contradicts their
allegation. According to Lead Plaintiffy@November 1, 2018Valmart Complaint claimed that
“Synchrony . . . exposed [Walmart] to significant credit risk andextended credit to riskier
customers in the Walmart/Synchrony credit card program as compared to other pfograms
Compl. 1 17#78 (quoting Walmart Compl. 1 24)hese allegationthus suggeghat
Walmart’'s norrenewalwas due to Defendants’ too-loose underwriting, and not stocte
tightened underwritinggastheLead Plaintiffsallege. As a resultjo reasonable investor would
believe that Walmart's nerenewal was due to Synchrony’s tightened underwriting.

Accordingdy, all claims stemming from the atjed nisrepresentationsom any of
Defendants’ pst-April 28, 2017 statementsill be dismissed

c. Scienter andLoss Causation

Because the Couwtill dismiss Lead Plaintiffs’ claims based on their failure to allege a
material misrepresentation, the Court will metich the issuesf scienter or loss causatiddee
Gross v. GFI Gp., Inc,, 784 F. App’x 27, 30 (2d Cir. 2019) (summary order) (affirndisirict
court’s judgment on the alternative grounds that the statements at issue did not “anaount t
material misrepresentation or omission actionable under section {iB¢e)hal citation
omitted); In re Ferrellgas Partners, L.P., S&d.itig, No. 16 CIV. 7840 (RJS), 2018 WL
2081859, at *16 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 30, 2018ff'd, 764 F. App’x 127 (2d Cir. 2019) (concluding
that “Plaintiffs have nopleadeda material misstatement or omission, which alone warrants
dismissal of their claim for securities fichunder Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5,” but also

continuing toanalyze scienter as “an alternate basis for dismissalfe Barrick Gold Corp.
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Sec. Litig, 341 F. Supp. 3d 358 (S.D.N.Y. 2018) (“Given the foregoing, we need not address the
parties’ loss causation argumen}s@Gissin v. Endres739 F. Supp. 2d 488, 515 n.167 (S.D.N.Y.
2010) (“Because plaintiffs have failed to allege adequate grounds for fraud . . . , | need not
address either loss causation or relianc®&fer LP v.Raymond James Fin., In&54 F. Supp.
2d 204, 219-20 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (declining to address loss causation after fithgirmpmplaint
does not adequately allege that defendants made an actionable misstatenagetiar omission
with scienter” (emphasiomitted))
B. Claims Under Section 20A and 20(a) of the Exchange Act
Section 20A of the Exchandect “provides an express private right of action for those
who trade contemporaneously with an inside trad&eginsky v. Xcelera In&41 F.3d 365,
372 (2d Cir. 2014) (citind5 U.S.C. 8§ 78t-1L Liability under Section 20A first “requires an
independent Securities Exchange Act violatidd.(citing Jackson Nat'l Life Ins. Co. v. Merrill
Lynch & Co, 32 F.3d 697, 703 (2d Cir. 1994)).
Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act imposes liability on control persons. 15 U.S.C. §
78t(a). Section 8§ 770 defines a control person as:
Every person who, by or through stock ownership, agency, or
otherwise, or who, pursuant to or in connection with an agreement
or understanding with one or more other persons by or through stock
ownership, agency, or otherwise, controls any person liable under
sections 77k or 771 of this title . . . unless the controlling person had
no knowledge of or reasonable ground to believe in the existence of
the facts by reason of which the liability of the controlled person is
alleged to exist.
15 U.S.C. 88 770(a).
To establish the requisite state of mind for a control person, a plaintiff neast ffacts

giving rise to a strong inference” that the control person “knowingly or recklessy {gilto

conduct a reasonable investigation of the ratsmrity with respect to the factual elements relied
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upon by its own methodology for evaluating credit risk; or (ii) to obtain reasonable verification
of such factual elements . . . from other sources . ...” 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2)(B). The control
persam will not be liable if he or she “acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce
the act or acts constituting the violation or cause of action.” 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a).

Because the Couwtill dismissLeadPlaintiffs’ claims for primary violatns of a
securities lawspecifically Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and SEC Rule 10b-5, their
derivative claims under Sections 20A ag6(a) claim must also be dismiss@&eeSteginsky
741 F.3d at 372 (“8 20A liability requires an independent Securities Exchange Act violation”
(citing Jackson Nat’| 32 F.3d at 703)Pne Commc’ns Corp. v. JP Morgan SBIC LI[381 F.
App’x 75, 82 (2d Cir. 2010) (“In order to establish a prima facie case of liability urig@g, a
plaintiff must show, among other things, ‘a primary violation by a cdhtperson.” (quoting
Boguslavsky v. Kaplari59 F.3d 715, 720 (2d Cir. 1998))

Accordingly, the Courtill dismissLeadPlaintiffs’ claims under Sections 20A and 20(a)
in theirentirety.

C. Claims Under Sections 11 and 16f Securities Act

a. Section 11 Claims

Under Section 11 of the Securities Act, issuers and other signatories of i@atiegist
statement are liable for any “untrue statement of a material faothmsion of ‘amaterial fact
required to be stated ther@nnecessary to make the statementsethanot misleading.” 15
U.SC. § 77k(a). “So long as a plaintiff establishes one of the three bases for liability hester t

provisions—1) a material misrepresentation; (2) a material omission in contraventon of

10 The Court also notes that no predicate violation of Section 10(b) or Rule @b attributed to Mr. Quindlen, so
Lead Plaintiffs’ ability to plead a violation of Semti 20(a) as to Mr. Quindlen would have further failed for this
reason.
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affirmative legal disclosure obligati; or (3) a material omission of information that is necessary
to prevent existing disclosures frdming misleading-then, in a Section 11 case, ‘the general
rule [is] that an issu&s liability . . . is absolute. Litwin v. Blackstone Grp., L.P634 F.3d 706,
715-16 (2d Cir. 2011) (citations omitted).

Defendants arguthat Lead Plaintiffs have failed to plead any actionable misstatement in
the Offering Materialsand that Lead Plaintiffs’ challenge to the “reegtlallegations is time
barred fo their failure to file suit withirone year of Defendants’ disclosures on April 28, 2017.
Defs.” Mem. at 5253. In addition, they contendat Lead Plaintiffs’ claims must be dismissed
for the additional reason that thefait to plead a domestic trangen as required to overcome
the presumption against the extraterritorial application of the federal secianigesld. at 53.

According to Defendants’ view of the law, to satisfgrrison v. NationhAustralia
Bank, Ltd, 561 U.S. 247, 267 (2010), Lead Plaintiffs “must allege facts indicating that
irrevocable liability was incurred or that title was transferred within the Ufitates.” Defs.’

Mem. at 54 (quotind\bsolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Fic&d7 F.3d 60, 62 (2d Cir.
2012)). Finally, Defendants contend that APG Fixed-the plaintiff “seeking to serve as a
representative party on behalf of a clas$diled to file the sworn certification required by the
PSLRA.Id. (quoting15 U.S.C 8 77z4(a)(2)(A).

In responsel,.ead Plaintiffsemphasizasallegedomitted facs the statements that
occurredprior to the Offering on December 1, 2017. Pls.” Opp’n at 51-53. They contend that
even after April 28, 2017, Defendants still “repeatedly, falsely reedsarestors that

Synchrony’s changes to underwriting were ‘very targeted,” which they allege wasrrextted
until July 27, 2018, whebefendantsallegedly “admitted to broad-based changts.at 53.
Lead Plantiffs next submit thatheir purchases of the Synchrony Notes were “doniestid

submit additional facts in aupporting declaration and exhibiitl. at 53-54 (citing Ex. 26: Van
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Lidth De Jeude Decl., ECF No. 116-26 (Aug. 21, 2019)). Finally, to omezddefendants’
arguments about Lead PlaintifBSLRA certification, Lead Plaintiffgontend “that purported
deficiency has been cured” by their exhibits here, or alternatively, they recquastdeamend to
include the certificationd. at 55.

Defendats first reply that‘the one misstatement [Ledlaintiffs] press[] as actionable . .
. is puffery and not an actionable misstatement.” Defs.” Reply at 19. Second, Defemdaats
that these claims are tinf@rred because the Amended Complaint allege$isi@ndants
“admitted” on April 28, 2017 thahe statements at issue were falde(citing Compl. 1 204—
05). According to Defendants, “a statement can only be actionable based on facts tbdtaxist
the time it was made (not ones that subsequently came into existence), and evegexhe alle
‘admission’ of wrongdoing is sufficient to start the limitations peridd.”(citations omitted).
Third, Defendants argue that Lead Plaintiffs’ improper attempt to amendrieaded
Complaint with a declaration and supporting exhisiit fails to plead a doestic tansaction.
Id. at 20.

The Court agreest least in part

“The same course of conduct that would support a Rulés Ifdim may as well support
a Section 11 claim . . . [but] claims that do rely upon averments of fraud are suljectast of
Rule 9(b).”"Rombach355 F.3d at 17JAlthough APG Fixed “expressly disavows and disclaims
any allegations of fraud,” Compl. 1 321, the Court finds that “the wording and imputations of the
complaint are classically associated with frAlRlombach355 F.3d at 172.

As the Court has already detailed above, Lead Plaintiffs faéled to plead any
actionable misrepresentation, because they have failed to establish tlsahalbéainvestor,

attunedo the “total mix” of informationyould be misled by any @he alleged misstatements.
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Here regarding the Section 11 clainhgadPlaintiffs point to the following passage, which
appears numerous times in the Offering Matsrial
Our business benefits from longstanding and collaborative
relationships with our partners, including some of the nation’s
leading retailers and manufacturers with welbwn consumer
brands. We believe our partaggntric business model has been
successfubecausét alignsour interestswith those of our partners
and provides substantial value to both our partners and our
customers. Our partners promote our credit products because they
generate increased sales and strengthen customer loyalty.
Compl.19353-55(emphasisn original). LeadPlaintiffs contendhatthesestatementsalong
with otherstatementslreadydiscusse@ndrejectedasmisrepresentationspadetheregistration
statemenandotherOffering Materials“inaccurateandmisleading.”ld. 1370-71.

The SecondCircuit in Rombaclrejectedasimilar attemptto characterizallegationsas
soundingn negligencewhentheplaintiffs referredto theregistrationstatemenas*“inaccurate
andmisleading,” containing “untrugtatement®f materialfacts; andissuing‘materially false
and misleadingwritten statement$ 355 F.3dat 172 (emphasi®omitted) Consequentiyl,.ead
Plaintiffs herehavealsofailed to “differentiatetheir assertedhegligenceclaimsfrom thefraud
claimswhich permeateéhe Complaint.’in re UltrafemInc. SecsLitig., 91F. Supp. 2d 678, 690
(S.D.N.Y.2000).

TheCourt has already detailed wthe cited language-Defendants’ alleged “touting” of
Synchrony’s “partnecentric model” that “aligns” its interests with its partners, PIs.” Opp’n at
51—fails to rise to the level of a material misrepresentation. Even in the context of \tyahisar
language isat bestinactionable puffery. Significantly, Lead Plaintiffs do not plead any new
alleged misstatements that have not already been rejected by the Court

Furthermore, laims under Section 11 “are subject to a gearstatute of limitations

which commences upon ‘the discovery of the untrue statement or the omission, or after such
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discovery should have been made by the exercise of reasonable diligénsielis v. Barclays
Bank PLGC 734 F.3d 132, 138 (2d Cir. 201(8juoting 15 U.S.C. 8 77m). According to Lead
Plaintiffs’ Amended Complaintthe truth began to partially emergjseeCompl. at 32
(formatting from heading omitted), when Defendants nibde “first partial corrective
disclosure on April 28, 2017id. 1 100 see also id] 289 (referencing the “partial disclosure”
on April 28, 2017 again).

Lead Plaintiffs’ attempt to argue thahe April 28, 2017 partial corrective disclosure did
not trigger the statute of limitations” because of “continuing fraud” is unavasle®lls.” Opp’'n
at 53 (citing nonbinding precedengcause their own allegations establish that this corrective
disclosure date is the date on which they had “actual or constraotiee of the claim,”
Amorosa v. AOL Time Warner, Ind09 F. App’x 412, 416 (2d Cir. 2011). Here, the Section 11
claim was not brought until Lead Plaintiffs’ filed their Amended ComplamApril 5, 2019,
which is more than a year after the “first partial corrective disclosure on Z&r017—“when
Lead Plaintifs had constructive notice of their claims.” Compl. | IR@jdus 734 F.3d at 138.
Consequently, the Section 11 claim isodisne-barred.

As a result, the Court will dismiss Lead Plaintiffs’ Section 11 claim, and will noeasldr
Defendants’ argumentegarding the pleading of a domedtansactiof! or the filing of a sworn

certification by APG Fixed.

11 The Court does note that the facts that purportedly support the establishment ofticdmansaction were not
properly included in the Amended Complaint, nor was leave soughtltthase allegations. In any event, ledw
amend Plaintiffs’ pleadingiould be futile for the reasons discussed below.
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b. Section 15 Claims

Section 15 of th&ecuritiesAct imposes liability on control persons for a violation of
Section 11. 15 U.S.C. § 770(a). Becaasgedbn 15 claim is‘necessarily predicated on a
primary violation of securities laWwShetty v. Trivago N.V-- F. App’x--, 2019 WL 6834250
(2d Cir. Dec. 16, 2019) (quotingombach355 F.3d at 177-78), and the Court has found that
Lead Plaintiffs failed tglead such a primary violation of the Section 11, the Court will dismiss
the Section 15 claim as well.

Accordingly, all of Lead Plaintiff’'s claims will be dismissed.

D. Lead Plaintiffs’ Leave to Amend

UnderFederalRule ofCivil Procedure 15(a), “A party mamend its pleading once as a
matter of course within: (A) 21 days after serving it, or (B) if the pleading is one th whic
responsive pleading is required, 21 days after service of a responsive pleading or 21 days afte
service of a motion under Rul@(b), (e), or (f), whichever is earlieffed.R. Civ. P.15(a)(2)
“In all other cases, a party may amend its pleading only with the opposing party’s writte
consent or the court’s leave. The court should freely give leave when justice scsrégeuleR.
Civ. P.15(a)(2)

Under Rule 15, the decision to grant leave to amend is within the discretion of the court,
but the court must give some “justifying reason” for denying leemanv. Davis 371U.S.
178, 182 (1962). Reasons for denying leave to amend include “undue delay, bad faith or dilatory
motive on the part of the movant, repeated failure to cure deficiencies by amenpraeiassly
allowed, undue prejudice to the opposing party by virfuelowance of the amendment, [or]
futility of amendmerit]” 1d.; seealsoLucentev. Int'| Bus.Machines Corp.310 F.3d 243, 258
(2d Cir. 2002) (noting leave tamendmay be denied when amendment is “unlikely to be

productive,” such as when amendment is “futifeand “could not withstand a motion to
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dismisspursuant td-ed.R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6)” (internal citation omitted))Park B. Smith,Inc. v.
CHF Indus.Inc., 811F. Supp. 2d 766, 77@.D.N.Y.2011)(“While mere delay absent a
showing of bad faith or undue prejudice, is not enough for a district court to deny leave to
amend, the longer the period of an unexplained delay, the less will be required of the nonmoving
party in terms of a showing of prejudice.” (internal quotation marks omjitted)

Despite their extensive allegationise Led Plaintiffs’claims lack a strong basis in law
or factfor the reasons detailed abowegking any furtheamendment futileindeal, Lead
Plaintiffs have already had an opportunity to amend their complaint with greaterc#yecif
CompareCompl, ECF No. 1 (totaling twentyesenpages)with Am. Compl., ECF No. 78
(totaling123 pages

As a resulthaving found that Lead Plaintiffs have failed to plausibly allege that any
statement would be misleading to a reasonable investor given the “totadfrandilable
information, and finding now that rfartheramendment could alter this “total mix” of
informationbased on their purported claims, the Cauilitdismiss this case with prejudicef.
ATSI Commc’s, Inc, 493 F.3cat 109 (“District courts typically grant plaintiffs deast one
opportunity to plead fraud with greater specificity when they dismiss under Rule 9(b) . . .
[plaintiff here] was given that opportunity.” (internal citation omitjed@ela. Pub. Emps. Ret.
Sys.v. Deloitte & Touche LLP558 F. App’x 138, 140 (2d Cir. 2014dreeing with the district
court that “leave to amend would have been futile” for plaintiff's claims undsio®el 0(b) and
SEC Rule 10b-p Lucentev. Int'l Bus.MachinesCorp, 310 F.3d 243, 258 (2d Cir. 2002An
amendment to a pleadjns futile if the proposed claim would not withstand a motion to dismiss
pursuant td-ed.R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6)" (citation omitted));Acitov. IMCERAGroup,Inc., 47 F.3d
47, 55 (2d. Cir 1995) (“One good reason to deny leaaetendis when such leave would

befutile.” (citation omitted));Ruffolov. Oppenheime& Co., 987 F.2d 129, 131 (2d Cir.
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1993)(affirming dismissal with prejudice because, “[w]here it appeargttaauting leave to
amend is unlikely to be productive, . . . it is not an abuse ofij#tigct court's] discretion to
deny leave to amend”)

Accordingly,the Lead Plaintiffs’ claims are dismissed with prejudice.
V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons explained above, the CBIRANTS Defendants’ motion to dismiss the
casewith prejudice.

The Clerk ¢ Court isrespectfully directed tenter judgment for Defendants and close
this case.

SO ORDERED at Bridgeport, Connecticuthis 31stday of March, 2020.

/s/Victor A. Bolden

Victor A. Bolden
United StateDistrict Judge
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